




Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.




[image: logo]




Also by Steven Brill

The Teamsters








[image: logo]

SIMON & SCHUSTER

Rockefeller Center

1230 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10020

Copyright © 2003 by Steven Brill

All rights reserved, including the right of reproduction in whole or in part in any form.

SIMON & SCHUSTER and colophon are registered trademarks of Simon & Schuster, Inc.

Designed by Paul Dippolito

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data is available.

ISBN-10: 0-7432-4954-2



ISBN-13: 978-0-7432-4954-6

Visit us on the World Wide Web:

http://www.SimonSays.com




For Emily, Sophie, Sam—and Cynthia




The Main Characters



John Ashcroft: United States Attorney General

James Brosnahan: Lead defense lawyer for John Walker Lindh

Michael Cartier: Business information systems manager at cable television company in New York; co-founder, Give Your Voice; brother of September 11 victim James Cartier, an electrician working in the North Tower

Larry Cox: President and CEO, Memphis–Shelby County Airport Authority

Kenneth Feinberg: Special Master, Victim Compensation Fund

Bernadine Healy: President and CEO, American Red Cross

Salvatore Iacono: Proprietor, Continental Shoe Repair (two blocks from Ground Zero)

Robert Lindemann: Senior Border Patrol Agent, U.S. Border Patrol (Detroit)

Brian Lyons: Recovery Supervisor, Ground Zero, and brother of September 11 victim Michael Lyons, member of New York City Fire Department, Rescue Squad 41

Sergio Magistri: President and CEO, InVision Technologies (Silicon Valley)

Kevin McCabe: Chief Inspector, Contraband Enforcement Team, United States Customs Service, Port of New York (based in Elizabeth, New Jersey)

Dean O’Hare: Chairman and CEO, Chubb Corporation

Tom Ridge: Director, White House Office of Homeland Security, and Secretary, Department of Homeland Security

Anthony Romero: Executive Director, American Civil Liberties Union

Gale Rossides: Associate Undersecretary for Training and Quality Performance, U.S. Transportation Security Administration, Department of Transportation

Charles Schumer: Senior senator from New York, and husband of Iris Weinshall

Larry Silverstein: President and CEO, Silverstein Properties, real estate developer (New York City)

Eileen Simon: Harrington Park, New Jersey, widow of September 11 victim Michael Simon, an energy trader at Cantor Fitzgerald

Iris Weinshall: Commissioner, New York City Department of Transportation, and wife of Charles Schumer

Edmund Woollen: Vice President, Raytheon Company (Virginia)

Other Key Figures

Hollie Bart: Sal Iacono’s pro bono lawyer

Joshua Bolten: Assistant to the President and Deputy Chief of Staff, the White House

Robert Bonner: Commissioner, U.S. Customs Service

Michael Byrne: Senior Director of Response and Recovery, White House Office of Homeland Security

Andrew Card, Jr.: Chief of Staff, the White House

Michael Chertoff: Assistant Attorney General in charge of the Criminal Division, U.S. Department of Justice

David Crane: Senior Policy Advisor to Senator Trent Lott, and then a lobbyist representing real estate interests

Mitchell Daniels, Jr.: Director, Office of Management and Budget, the White House

Mary Delaquis: Area Service Port Director, U.S. Customs Service (based in Pembina, North Dakota)

Ali Erikenoglu: Electrical engineer (Paterson, New Jersey)

Richard Falkenrath: Special Assistant to the President and Senior Director of Policy and Plans, White House Office of Homeland Security

Jennie Farrell: Co-founder, Give Your Voice, and sister of Michael Cartier and September 11 victim James Cartier, an electrician working in the North Tower

Joshua Gotbaum: CEO, September 11th Fund

Mark Hall: Senior Border Patrol Agent, U.S. Border Patrol (Detroit)

Kip Hawley: Director, go teams, Transportation Security Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation

Mark Isakowitz: Washington lobbyist for private airline security companies, and then for the insurance industry

Michael Jackson: Deputy Secretary, U.S. Department of Transportation

Syed Jaffri: Pakistani immigrant, detained in September after dispute with Bronx landlord

Lee Kreindler: Plaintiffs lawyer specializing in representing victims of air disasters

General Bruce Lawlor: Senior Director of Protection and Prevention, White House Office of Homeland Security

Elaine Lyons: Westchester, New York, widow of September 11 victim Michael Lyons, member of New York City Fire Department, Rescue Squad 41

David McLaughlin: Chairman, American Red Cross

Norman Mineta: Secretary, U.S. Department of Transportation

Sohail Mohammed: Attorney and Muslim community leader, Paterson, New Jersey (represented Ali Erikenoglu)

Barry Ostrager: Lead lawyer representing Swiss Reinsurance Company in suit against Larry Silverstein

Hugo Poza: Vice President, Homeland Security, Raytheon Company (Virginia)

Eliot Spitzer: New York State Attorney General

Herbert Wachtell: Lead lawyer representing Larry Silverstein







Prologue: September 11, 2001



Kevin McCabe’s office in Elizabeth, New Jersey, was drab, even by government standards. Except for the view. It had a heart-stopping vista of the New York skyline. McCabe ran the squad of seventy U.S. Customs Service inspectors who checked all the cargo that comes into the port of New York, which includes piers in Elizabeth in New Jersey and Staten Island and Brooklyn in New York. From his window in Elizabeth, it looked as if he could throw a football across to lower Manhattan.

September 11 was McCabe’s first day as the chief inspector of the Contraband Enforcement Team. He’d been acting chief for a year, and his official promotion had come through late in the afternoon the day before.

McCabe, a stocky, perennially cheerful forty-two-year-old veteran of the endless Customs war on drugs, got to the office at about 8:00 and sheepishly took the congratulatory handshakes from the staff for his long-awaited change in title. He was sipping coffee and talking on the phone at 8:46 when he saw the first plane hit the World Trade Center. Because he had seen how big the plane was, he thought it might be an attack.* He flipped on the television, then called the Customs office in New York, which was at the Trade Center, to find out what was going on. Eighteen minutes later, while still on the phone, he heard a CNN reporter say another plane had hit. He whirled around in his chair, looked out the window, and saw the second tower on fire. Now he knew for sure.

McCabe got up and looked out not only at the two towers engulfed in black smoke, but at the acres of piers and staging areas right below him. There were perhaps a thousand cars just shipped in from Japan and Korea, ready to be trucked out. There were 7,000 or more trailer-truck-sized cargo containers—holding everything from furniture to fabric to computers to lemons and limes—that had arrived from all over the world in just the last twenty-four hours.

“I figured,” McCabe remembers, “that we were under attack, probably from some group in the Middle East, and I had no way of knowing for sure what was in any of those containers.”

McCabe and everyone else at Customs quickly sealed the port. Nothing was allowed in or out. All land entrances were patrolled. The Coast Guard was called in to close off the water entrances.

Then McCabe and his troops began their own exercise in racial profiling. Every one of those forty-foot-long containers that had originated in or stopped at ports in the Middle East or North Africa was identified and moved to one side of the port—some 600 containers in all, each destined to be hoisted onto a tractor trailer truck and dispersed across the East Coast. Over the next week, each container would get the treatment that Customs usually reserved for only a fraction of the cargo coming in from the drug-exporting countries of South America. They’d be scanned by a giant X-ray-like machine and, if need be, searched by hand after that.

It was, McCabe would readily admit, “as much an emotional reaction as a practical one. We felt we had to do something.”

It was not something he could keep doing for long. There was no way they could search more than 2 or 3 percent of the 7,000 to 9,000 containers coming in every day without so delaying these shipments that commerce all over the world would be paralyzed. Worse, these searches didn’t deal with the real problem—which was that the same kinds of people who had flown the planes into the buildings could ship a nuclear or biological device into the port, and, as McCabe now figured, it wouldn’t be like drugs where nailing a big stash on the docks occasioned high-fives all around. If this stuff even got to the docks, it would be a catastrophe.

What are we going to do, McCabe thought that afternoon as he looked across those thousands of containers at the smoke where the towers had been.

 

In Pembina, North Dakota, at the edge of the Canadian border, Customs area service port director Mary Delaquis knew exactly what she wanted to do. Delaquis, forty-four, was in charge of inspecting any goods that come into the United States over 570 miles of border stretching from Duluth, Minnesota, to eastern Montana. (The Immigration and Naturalization Service, or INS, is in charge of people entering the U.S.) On September 11, Delaquis had 103 agents, along with a small contingent from INS, to cover twenty-four official crossings, called ports of entry. Delaquis was now going to make sure that every car and truck coming through the Pembina sector of this Customs region (which averaged about 1,000 tractor trailer trucks and 3,000 cars a day) was inspected for bombs, weapons, and other terrorist threats. Usually, 3 to 5 percent of incoming vehicles were inspected. A proud, patriotic eighteen-year Customs veteran and mother of two who is married to a Canadian customs inspector, Delaquis immediately told her staff, “Whatever the next threat is, it is not coming through me.”*

It was an admirable sentiment. But on September 11 Customs work up north was done in part on the honor system: At sixteen of Delaquis’s twenty-four ports of entry, her inspectors went home at 10:00 every night, and put an orange traffic cone in the road along with a notice telling people to come back for inspection at 9:00 the next morning. By the afternoon of September 11 Delaquis told her deputy that two agents would have to replace those orange cones all night at all sixteen crossings.

“How, Mary, how,” he kept asking. “Where will I get the people?”

 

Eileen Simon was finishing up the breakfast dishes in her kitchen in Harrington Park, New Jersey. A radiant, thirty-five-year old blonde, she was about to get dressed to take her five-year-old son to a play date when the phone rang.

“Did Michael go to work today?” her friend asked, without even bothering to say hello.

“Of course, why not,” Eileen answered.

“Is he already in the office?”

“He’s a trader,” she answered. “He’s chained to his desk from seven o’clock on. You know that.”

Her friend told Eileen that a plane had hit the North Tower of the World Trade Center, the place where she knew Eileen’s husband, Michael, worked.

“Turn on the television. I’ll be right over,” she added.

Eileen’s five-year-old son, Tyler, was playing in the kitchen. He looked up at the TV and recognized the famous building where his father had taken him to his office on the 105th floor.

“Isn’t that Daddy’s building?” he asked.

“Yes it is, honey.”

“Is Daddy okay, Mommy?”

Recalling her answer months later, Eileen is still surprised at what she blurted out: “No, Tyler, I think Daddy’s just been killed.”

Simon explains that she thought that “the top of the building had been blown off. I couldn’t see it through all the smoke.”

Eileen called her mother, who lived nearby. “Mom, you’d better come over. Michael’s been killed.”

But then, for a while, the black smoke seemed to clear, and Eileen could see the top of the tower. “I had hope again,” she remembers. “That was the worst part. For about an hour, until the buildings came down, I had hope. I tried to call Michael, and someone answered and put me on hold. Like an idiot I hung up and tried to call again, but just got a busy. I paced the house, then went outside and paced…. The house started filling up with friends. Everyone knew Michael because he coached four teams here for the kids, three soccer, one baseball. And we’re a very close community. There must have been fifteen people here with me when the building finally came down and I knew it was over.”

Eileen and her mother ran over to the elementary school, which is about 300 yards up the block. “I could see other parents going there to get their kids,” she remembers, “and I panicked because I thought Brittany and MJ [her twelve-year-old daughter and ten-year-old son] would hear about it from someone else. So, I ran over, and got the others to make way for me so I could get to them first. I saw Brit, and told her, ‘Daddy’s dead,’ and she let out a shriek and ran away.”

That night, two or three dozen neighbors filled the house, along with some of her sisters, brothers, and in-laws. There was food and lots to drink. The in-laws and some of the neighbors—including one woman who kept telling Eileen that “Michael is going to walk through this door any minute”—insisted that there was hope. Eileen wouldn’t even consider the possibility. She and the children mostly stayed upstairs. The kids rummaged through Michael’s closet and laundry bag, putting on his clothing, sniffing it, using it to dry their tears. Then they all curled up in Eileen and Michael’s bed.

At one point in the middle of the night, Eileen panicked. Although she’d once been an industrial reinsurance broker, she hadn’t worked or paid attention to the family finances since Brittany had been born. She remembered that Michael had just switched banks, and she had not yet even gotten the signature cards to be on the account with him. Where was she going to get any money? What bills needed to be paid? Did she even have enough cash for the next few days? How much life insurance did he really have? What was the mortgage?

The children’s fear was more basic. In one way or another—sometimes with a murmur, or in five-year-old Tyler’s case, with a shriek—through the night they asked their mother if the bad guys were going to come and get them, too.

 

The man who would soon become responsible for the Simon children’s safety watched the initial moments of the Trade Center disaster on a TV set in a hospital room in Erie, Pennsylvania, where his mother was recovering from vascular surgery. Governor Tom Ridge quickly went back to the house he still keeps in Erie, the town far off in the northwest corner of Pennsylvania that he had represented as a congressman before winning a long-shot race for governor in 1994. He made a few calls to mobilize the disaster task force he had organized years before to supervise emergency drills, and ordered that a long-standing state emergency plan—involving everything from closing liquor stores to tightening security at the state’s five nuclear power plants—be put into effect.

After negotiating with the federal authorities, who had downed all nonmilitary air traffic—authorities whom, it turned out, he would be coordinating less than a month later as the country’s first Director of Homeland Security—Ridge was allowed to get a state helicopter to take him back to the capital in Harrisburg. By the time be got there, he knew he had more to do than preside over hypothetical emergency plans. A member of his security detail relayed word that there was a fourth plane down in Shanksville, Pennsylvania. After more negotiations with the feds, another chopper took him to the crash site.

 

Sergio Magistri was jarred out of bed in Silicon Valley at 6:00 by his girlfriend, who was on the phone from Toronto, where she was attending an airline industry conference that included the executives who run most of America’s airports. “Turn on your TV,” she said, then hung up. For the first three hours, Magistri recalls, he was “completely spaced out in front of the TV.” Then Magistri started to come to grips with the reality of what had happened, and how it affected the company he ran. “I looked up across the [San Francisco Bay] and realized that there were no planes flying into the airport. Then I saw a jumbo jet from one of the Asian airlines coming in—and saw that it was being escorted by F-16s.”

Magistri, who was forty-eight and still spoke with a thick, strange accent that reminded anyone who heard him that he was born in Switzerland and raised among people who spoke German and Italian, was the President and CEO of a small Silicon Valley company called InVision Technologies. InVision made giant machines that screened passengers’ checked baggage at airports. The purpose was to see if the bags were carrying bombs. InVision was the clear leader among only two companies certified by the federal government to make these machines.

Magistri had come to InVision in 1990. Some friends from a company that made CT scan machines for hospitals and doctors had started the company two years before, right after Pan Am 103 had exploded over Lockerbie, Scotland, when a bomb was planted in the checked luggage. “We were a reaction to Lockerbie,” says Magistri.

But Lockerbie had not produced the business Magistri and his cohorts had hoped for. Congress had passed a law in 1990 requiring the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) to get explosive detection equipment in place by the end of 1993, but by 1994 the FAA still hadn’t approved standards for the devices, which are the size of a minivan. It had taken until that year for Magistri even to sell his first $1 million machine, and the sale was to an airport in Brussels. The Israelis had also become customers, but few other airports were willing to foot the bill. Magistri’s machines were expensive, because they required not only an enormous amount of software to pinpoint the combination of mass and density that suggested explosives, but also a giant, rapidly rotating X-ray chamber that can record multiple images from multiple angles at high speed. By the end of 1996, Magistri had sold only twenty units, mostly to airports in Europe and in the United Kingdom (where by September 11, every piece of checked baggage was screened).

He had sold none in the United States. The American airline industry, concerned about passenger inconvenience and maintenance costs (the federal government would buy the machines), had continually persuaded the FAA to forgo the installation of Magistri’s machines. Nonetheless, he had somehow been able to take his company public in the spring of 1996.

When TWA Flight 800 exploded over the Long Island coast in the summer of 1996, it looked like Magistri’s shareholders had been in the right place at the right time. The stock nearly doubled, and Magistri was certain that the need for his machines had finally been demonstrated. A presidential commission, headed by Vice President Al Gore, investigated aviation safety and recommended the screening of every checked bag. The federal government quickly ordered fifty machines. It seemed that Magistri and InVision had made it. He began producing and selling ten to fifteen InVision units a month. Legislation was passed mandating 100 percent screening by 2013; then, the deadline was moved up to 2010. Magistri pushed his many suppliers to ramp up, while he hired and leased more space.

However, as the memory of TWA Flight 800 faded (or as it became clear that a fire in the plane’s fuel system, not a bomb, had caused the crash), America and its government seemed to lose interest. The FAA and Congress stopped appropriating funds for his machines, and the airlines—who had lobbied against the machines even when the government promised to pay for them, because they feared they would slow down the check-in process—certainly weren’t going to ante up on their own.

Magistri’s sales stalled out, so much so that by September 10, 2001, he had sold only 140 in the United States (and about 110 abroad) in the seven years that the product had been given FAA certification and put on the market. Magistri had just subleased a chunk of his factory space and completed a round of layoffs that trimmed his workforce 15 percent, down to 180. Morale sagged among those who remained, as the company tried to cut costs by eliminating even little perks, such as the donuts and drinks that had been the staple of most meetings.

In short, Magistri was generally in the soup along with the rest of his Silicon Valley neighbors. His factory was nearly idle, making only one machine every week or two. He had even diversified InVision, developing an imaging product to track faults in logs for the lumber industry. That hadn’t helped much: InVision’s stock, which had gone public in 1997 at $12 and soared as high as $25, was at $3.11. To Magistri, the stock’s rise and fall seemed to track America’s dangerously short attention span when it came to security issues.

Now, by noon, or 3:00 Eastern Time, Magistri, who has the optimist gland endemic to any entrepreneur, was sure that everything had changed, this time for real. True, it seemed that the terror attacks had nothing to do with checked baggage, but Magistri’s instinct was that September 11 was a seminal event that would result in a swift hardening of all targets in aviation. So he instructed his chief operating officer to think about ramping up again, quickly. “We had reduced ourselves to be a $40 million [in revenues] company,” he recalls. “That afternoon, I decided we should at least ramp up to $60 million.”

Magistri made two other decisions that afternoon. He instructed everyone in the company not to talk to the press at all, no matter who called. He did not want to seem to be taking advantage of the tragedy. At the same time, he rehired the PR firm he had laid off a few months before, in order, he says, “to prepare to respond to what I knew would be the new demand for coverage of us in the media and in the investment community. We had to get ready.”

 

New York City’s Department of Transportation Commissioner Iris Weinshall found herself with lots of quiet time early that morning. She’d left her Brooklyn home at about 6:30 to vote in the city’s Democratic primary, then was chauffeured in her government car to City Hall in Manhattan. She thought she had a cabinet meeting with Mayor Rudolph Giuliani, but when she arrived she found that the 7:30 session had been changed to 9:45. So she grabbed some coffee at Starbucks, then proceeded to her office, which was about two blocks from City Hall and four blocks from the Trade Center. She was doing paperwork at her desk and talking on the phone to a business association leader, who was complaining about a water main and sewer project that was blocking traffic on lower Broadway, when she heard the noise from the first low-flying jet. Weinshall ran to another side of the floor, saw the fire, and was soon in touch with her deputies to make sure they would help clear traffic from the area so the firemen could get easier access. It was only when the second plane hit that she realized this was more than a local traffic problem.

Weinshall had two immediate worries. Her elder daughter, Jessica, was a senior at nearby Stuyvesant High, the elite magnet of the New York City public school system. And her husband—Senator Charles Schumer—was in Washington.

 

Chuck Schumer was watching TV and reading a newspaper in the House of Representatives gym at ten to nine. The senior senator from New York didn’t seem the type who’d still be in the gym that late in the morning. He was a notoriously hard worker, the kind of driven politician who mixes obsessive involvement with the details of any issue with such a drive for publicity that the old joke, “he’d show up at the opening of a phone booth,” seemed to have been written about him. But, he says, “I sweat a lot when I exercise. Even if I get to the gym at 7:00 and work out for an hour, it takes me another hour to be able to put my clothes on. So I use the time to read the paper and make some calls.”*

After Schumer saw the reports of the first plane, he called some staff people to ask them to get on the phones to get more information. When he saw the second plane hit he called Weinshall.

“Chuck, could these buildings come down?” Weinshall asked her husband.

“Don’t be ridiculous, Iris,” Schumer answered with characteristic certainty. “These buildings are built to withstand anything.” They agreed to try to reach their daughter and talk later.

When the first tower came down, Weinshall, amid what she recalls as mass hysteria in her building, got her husband back on the phone. Schumer reported that Jessica’s cell phone had just gotten through to his office in Washington, where she had told a staffer that she was on the ninth floor of Stuyvesant and was about to be evacuated but that all the elevators were out. Weinshall then took out a street map of Manhattan and counted the blocks from the North Tower to Stuyvesant, which was about four blocks from the Trade Center. The transportation commissioner and the senator now tried to calculate how tall the Trade Center tower was, what the length of an average block was, and, therefore, whether it would hit Stuyvesant if it fell over. “I wanted to leave to go find Jessie,” Weinshall remembers. “But I couldn’t. I was in charge of all these people and we had responsibilities. It was awful.”

Weinshall deployed all of her staff—from executives to her own driver—to fan out in the yellow vests they’d all been issued for emergencies, and divert all traffic out of lower Manhattan. Amazingly, Weinshall’s driver soon spotted Jessica with her friends running north up West Street. He scooped her up and brought her to Weinshall’s office.

When the second tower collapsed, Weinshall’s building lost all power and phone service. She and her senior staff, with Jessica in tow, began moving uptown in a caravan toward a Transportation Department depot in upper Manhattan that they would use as a command center. She stayed there until about 11:00 P.M., when she got her driver to take her home to Brooklyn so she could change her soot-laden clothes before attending a midnight emergency command meeting with Mayor Giuliani. As the driver began to go over the Brooklyn Bridge, which like all bridges and tunnels had been closed to the public, a police sergeant leaned in and told Weinshall that “we haven’t had a chance to check the bridge out yet; the scuba team won’t be here until the morning to look for bombs at the base.” Weinshall thanked him, then told her driver to “gun it.” They hurtled over at 100 miles per hour, she recalls, “as if we were trying to get a good running start in case it blew up.”

Meantime, Schumer, whose Senate office had been evacuated, had commandeered a lobbyist’s suite on K Street. He began getting his staff focused on what he saw as the twin callings of his job—combining, as he puts it, referring to two predecessors, “Al D’Amato when it comes to bringing home the bacon for New York, and Pat Moynihan when it comes to being serious about policy.” The bacon had to do with all the aid New York would need to rebuild. Policy had to do primarily with the law enforcement and national security issues related to terrorism.

 

Construction engineer Brian Lyons was at a meeting in midtown Manhattan, where he was supervising a multimillion-dollar office renovation for a brokerage house, when his and everyone else’s cell phone started going off with the news of the first plane hitting the North Tower. He and his colleagues went up to the roof of the building to take a look. When they saw the second plane hit, Lyons, forty-two, started to worry about his kid brother Michael, thirty-two, who was a fireman assigned to one of New York’s elite Rescue Squad units.

Lyons called his wife at their home about sixty miles north of Manhattan, and she screamed for him to leave Manhattan, and come home to her and their two daughters. He tried to call Michael at his firehouse, but the phone went dead. He kept trying, but got nothing. So he called Elaine, Michael’s wife, who was seven months pregnant with their second daughter, to ask if maybe Michael had not worked today. No such luck. Elaine, a small, striking brunette who’d been Michael’s sweetheart since high school, was, she recalls later, “already getting semihysterical.” Lyons promised her he’d somehow find out about Michael.

With the subways already shut down, Lyons set out on foot to Michael’s firehouse. He walked the 100 blocks up Third Avenue over the bridge to the Bronx, and by about noon made it to where he hoped to find his kid brother.

The firehouse was locked. He peered through the window and saw no trucks, no firemen. He made his way to another firehouse, where a fireman was poring through the teletypes that were emblematic of the New York Fire Department’s antiquated communications system, looking for reports of who was safe and who wasn’t. The fireman knew and liked Michael, as it seemed everyone did who had ever met the outgoing, fun-loving youngest of the Lyons brothers. Brian got him to check for Michael’s squad, and the teletype seemed to say that Michael and his crew had been ordered to advance to a firehouse on 14th Street in Manhattan in case they were needed at the Trade Center. Lyons somehow got through to Elaine and told her that Michael must be okay, that he had not made it down to the Trade Center. Then he hitched a ride to a train station and caught a train north to Elaine’s small, two-bedroom house in Westchester to await further word.

When he got there, Elaine still hadn’t heard from Michael. Worse, Elaine’s sister, whose husband was also a fireman (and who was now accounted for) had called to say that Michael’s rig had been seen at the Trade Center. Elaine was hysterical.

Lyons worked the phones through the afternoon, the evening, and into the night but found out nothing. Finally, after trying fruitlessly to take a nap on the couch, he decided that he had to do something. So he went to the basement and found some of Michael’s spare fireman’s gear and an old badge, and at about 6:00 A.M. he headed out in Elaine’s car back to Manhattan. Flashing his brother’s old badge to get past the roadblocks, he finally made it onto the FDR Drive, which threads along Manhattan’s East Side. He recalls that as he approached downtown “the whole thing was like a dust storm. You could barely see. It was dark, even though it was light out. And no one was there. It was like after a war.”

Minutes later he pulled up to about three blocks from where the Trade Center had stood, left the car, and started walking through the debris. The first thing that stunned him was that everything had been reduced to dust. Cement, paper, the thousands of desks and computers from the Trade Center offices, body parts—all had settled in what looked to be six inches of white-gray powder. A block away his heart stopped when he came to Rescue Unit 41, Michael’s rig. It was mangled and abandoned under a fallen street sign less than two blocks from what had been the South Tower. “I just started walking around, looking for my brother,” he says.

After about an hour, Lyons hit on a strategy that would keep the police from making him leave the scene at the same time that he could make himself useful. He started acting like one of the other firemen, clawing around looking for survivors. “There was no one supervising anyone,” he explains. “People were just walking around.”

Soon he realized that his skills as a construction engineer could help more, so he whispered to a fire captain who he really was and how he was looking for his brother from Squad 41, and volunteered to advise them on what could be safely moved and what couldn’t. Within an hour, he was on a team evaluating which buildings around the site were likely to fall and which ones weren’t. All the while, he kept looking for any sign of his brother.

 

Bernadine Healy, the President and CEO of the American Red Cross, was on the phone in her palatial Washington headquarters, talking to her disaster operations center about getting the first Red Cross relief trucks to the Trade Center, when she felt the explosion at the Pentagon. After being assured that the northern Virginia chapter would have people there in a few minutes, she turned her attention to the larger job ahead. Healy, a Harvard-trained cardiologist who had headed the National Institutes of Health, knew immediately that this would be the Red Cross’s biggest domestic challenge since World War II. She wondered where the Red Cross—which provided blankets and temporary shelter to victims of 70,000 fires and other disasters annually, ranging from a one-alarmer where a family needs a place to stay overnight to massive earthquakes—would get the money to tend to so many victims all at once in a situation where the devastation would last so long. More than that, she knew that in terms of the Red Cross’s disaster relief, as well as its role as the country’s leading source of blood supply, she had to think big. She had to prepare for other attacks that might come the next day, the next week, the next year.

The Red Cross is a quasi-government organization, in the sense that the Congress charters it as an officially recognized agency charged with providing aid to disaster victims at home and to soldiers fighting abroad. In fact, several months before, Healy had prepared a six-point plan for how the Red Cross might respond to a major terrorist attack. It included everything from traditional relief, to long-term counseling and economic aid, to stockpiling huge supplies of blood. The plan had also contemplated that the effort would be financed by segregated donations rather than be put into the charity’s general relief fund.

At fifty-six Healy exuded a cool toughness. An Irish woman who’d grown up in an Italian neighborhood of Queens in New York City, she has blue eyes so arresting, so laserlike, that they seem to snarl with determination. She knew that night that to get the 200-year-old Red Cross on a footing to meet her ambitious vision she’d have to be tough in a way that belies the Red Cross’s benign, open-arms image. She’d have to navigate a bureaucracy and a power structure embedded in various corners of the marble headquarters building and in local chapters across the country. In fact, by late that night she had a hint of the problems to come, when an aide slipped her a note during a meeting, saying that Pentagon officials were complaining that only a handful of Red Cross workers had shown up from a local chapter to help out at that crash site. What she didn’t know was that getting donations to finance her projects would not be a problem. Far from it.

 

Michael Cartier, twenty-four, worked as a business information systems manager for a New York company that owns several cable television networks, including Bravo and American Movie Classics. At about 9:00 he got a call at his midtown office from his brother John, telling him about the crash at the Trade Center. Michael and John had another brother, James, working as an electrician in the North Tower, the one that had already been hit. (In fact, James was working on the same floor as Eileen Simon’s husband.) They also had a sister, Michelle, working as an executive assistant for Lehman Brothers in the South Tower. All of the Cartiers—seven siblings—were close. In fact, close doesn’t begin to describe what bound the Cartiers, and what would steel them in the months ahead. It was as if the close quarters in the three-bedroom house they’d grown up in Queens, across a parkway from La Guardia Airport and thousands of miles in worldview from the yuppies of Manhattan, had almost physically bonded them.

John and Michael decided that John would go down to the Trade Center from where he was working nearby, also as an electrician, while Michael would man the phones. First, John would get Michelle, and then he and Michelle would find James. Meantime, sisters Marie and Jennie and brother Patrick checked in and signed off on the plan, with one of them agreeing to go to their parents’ home to be with the elder Cartiers, Carmen and Patrick Sr.

John got there after the plane hit Michelle’s tower and just as her building came tumbling down. Wandering through the dust, he bumped into her just outside St. Paul’s Church. They hugged. Then they tried to move toward the still standing North Tower to find James. They were kept back by the police and firemen, and stood across the street as that building, with James possibly inside, collapsed. All the Cartiers, unable to communicate because all phones were dead, then walked over the 59th Street Bridge to their parents’ house.

“When I got halfway over the bridge,” Michael remembers, “I turned around and started walking back to find James. He and I were so close. We’d slept in the same bed growing up. I had to find him. But then I realized when I looked at all that black smoke that he was gone. I turned around and began walking home.”

When he got there, the house, he says, “was frantic. We were working the phones. We were watching TV, taking down phone numbers to call…. We prepared a flyer with James’s picture, so we could go back the next morning and hand it out. We had to find James and bring him home.”

 

When he got the news of the second plane hitting, Attorney General John Ashcroft was in a small government Cessna jet on his way to Milwaukee, where he was going to participate in the President’s child literacy program by reading to a group of schoolchildren. (His boss, President George W. Bush, was scheduled to read to a different group of children, in Florida, the same morning.) For Ashcroft, a conservative former Missouri senator, the trip, with an entourage of only two aides and two security people, seemed emblematic of a stewardship at Justice that had so far been uneventful and, in fact, had seemed not to have engaged him fully. Indeed, the policy initiative in which he had seemed most engaged—helping to ease immigration restrictions on Mexicans and others, which the President had urged him to seize as a priority—would now become almost perversely irrelevant.

Ashcroft immediately ordered the plane to turn around, only to be told that there wasn’t enough fuel to get back to Washington. After refueling in Milwaukee, he had still more trouble making it back to the center of action. The Federal Aviation Administration insisted that his plane be diverted to Richmond, because of an order it had issued to ground everything that wasn’t a military plane. “It was a real negotiation,” Ashcroft recalls. “I think when we ended up getting back to Washington we were literally the last plane in the air that day.”

By about 11:30 Ashcroft was in the Strategic Information and Operations Center (called the SIOC) in the FBI building across from his office, a place where he would spend most of the next two months. Four teams had already been organized to get information about the hijackers of the four planes, and some of the names of the nineteen killers were already posted on an easel. FBI Director Robert Mueller briefed him on computer terminals that had been set up to link each of the bureau’s field offices to the SIOC. By late afternoon, the FBI had already gone over to the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS, a sister agency, also within Ashcroft’s Justice Department) to haul away a giant data dump of hundreds of thousands or even millions (no one knew for sure, or could count them) of names and the possible locations of all people from Middle Eastern countries who had entered the United States in the last two years. True to the INS’s reputation as the agency most left behind by the information age, the data was not only hopelessly dated but was in hard copy—hundreds of boxes of paper forms. For years, the INS and FBI had fought an internal war within the Justice Department over computer and data systems. As a result of a standoff that no Attorney General had bothered to resolve, their databases did not talk to each other. Nonetheless, FBI agents in the field offices, having been fed the information by fax, were already out in the field questioning those they could find. Informants who’d been used in prior terrorism investigations, of whom there were precious few, were already, as one federal prosecutor put it, “being rousted.”

Ashcroft wasn’t satisfied. When he’d arrived at the White House late that afternoon, President Bush had taken Ashcroft aside and said, “John, make sure this can’t happen again.” Yet Mueller’s FBI team seemed focused on an investigation of what had already happened. Ashcroft was determined to change that. The FBI’s job now was to protect, not gather evidence that would stand up in court for prosecutions. Ashcroft was determined to force that fundamental shift, even if it meant he’d be de facto head of the FBI.

For Ashcroft, the sudden challenge—indeed, the sudden urgency to a job that had not quite captivated him yet—was an elixir of sorts. Associates would soon notice his new focus, the new bounce in his step. Using one of his many sports analogies, he would explain it this way: “Some people don’t like to get the ball at the foul line in the last second of the game. I do. I like to get that ball.”

Ashcroft’s Immigration and Naturalization Service division is headquartered about ten blocks from the FBI in a backwater Washington neighborhood that was emblematic of INS’s status. (So was the building’s name; it was called the Chester A. Arthur Building, after a President no one had ever nominated for Mount Rushmore.) There, the INS’s Border Patrol unit, which has 10,000 agents across the country, also leaped into action following the attacks. A storeroom full of rifles and shotguns was unlocked and weapons were handed out.

But they didn’t go out to safeguard Washington’s various landmarks and trophy targets. Instead, they fanned out in front of headquarters to prevent an attack on themselves. Every ten feet, rifle-or shotgun-toting Border Patrol agents in their trademark dark green uniforms could be found preparing to repel an assault against the one law enforcement agency the terrorists had the least reason to want to attack: the INS.

 

Meantime, for Robert Lindemann, an ex-Marine and veteran agent with INS’s Border Patrol division in Detroit, the morning of September 11 was the culmination of years of frustration. For years, Lindemann and his partner, agent Mark Hall, had been complaining to their supervisors, and then to a congressional committee, that the Border Patrol on the Northern Border with Canada was woefully understaffed and under-equipped to do its job—which was to catch people sneaking over the border at places that are not official ports of entry, such as a riverbank in Detroit, or the woods in North Dakota. So it was no surprise to Lindemann, though it was something of a last straw, that now the first order issued by his supervisors was that he and all the other agents should come into headquarters because it was too dangerous to be out in the field.

 

Larry Cox was one of the few airport executives not stuck in Toronto that morning at the annual airport industry conference. He had come back early to have stitches removed following some minor surgery. Cox, the president and CEO of the Memphis–Shelby County Airport Authority, kept a looseleaf book behind his desk on a shelf next to his thick budget book. It was full of plans for hostage situations, crashes, snowstorms, fires, and floods. But there wasn’t a section to help him and his staff prepare for the deluge of aircraft full of Tuesday morning passengers he was about to get when the FAA issued the order to ground everything.

Because Memphis was midway between America’s north and south and east and west, by noon Cox and his team ended up with more than 200 planes at an airport that has 100 gates. He had to tend to 20,000 people who had no place to go. His stockpile of 5,000 inflatable mattresses (bought a few years back after passengers were stranded when a snowstorm in Detroit tied up air traffic), diapers, and lunch and dinner rations would surely not have been enough if so many Memphis families and churches hadn’t responded by the afternoon to the live local television reports of the thousands stranded at the airport by opening their doors to them.

Cox, fifty-four, had worked at the airport for twenty-seven years, seventeen as the CEO, and had served as the president of a national airport executives’ trade association for two years. He was a tall (six foot five), affable Southerner, whose matter-of-fact way of talking about the outside forces that made his job difficult made his candor all the more jarring. He hated bureaucracy, particularly the kind that comes from Washington. Until September 11, the most frustrating experience of Cox’s professional life had been the twelve years it had taken him to get approval—amid a maze of local, state, and federal environmental regulations—for a new runway. Now, by the afternoon of September 11, the FAA was spitting new security regulations through his fax machine in what seemed like hourly blitzes. They seemed to have nothing to do with the attacks, but were certain to make his life miserable; for example, one directive immediately banned public parking spots within 300 feet of any terminal, a rule that would eliminate about 550 of his most lucrative spots and inconvenience customers at an airport where customer convenience was a religion.

Cox had no idea when they’d let the planes fly again. Even cargo planes were grounded, which was particularly bad for Cox because Memphis, with its famous Federal Express hub, is the busiest cargo airport in the world, an honor proclaimed in various posters throughout the facility that trumpet its increasing lead over Hong Kong.

Running airports is a high-pressure, low-margin business, and Cox knows the numbers as well as anyone. He knew that with the planes all down, what he now had for the foreseeable future were the same old costs, but none of the parking or concession revenue from the airport’s various shops, and none of the crucial landing fees. And he also knew that he had lots of new costs coming from new security requirements the bureaucrats in Washington would ordain, though he didn’t yet know how much these costs would skyrocket, or how much his revenues would now decline if passenger traffic collapsed in the months ahead.

 

Anthony Romero was also worried about what would now be coming from Washington. Romero, thirty-six, had recently been chosen to be the executive director of the American Civil Liberties Union. In fact, September 11 marked his debut before the annual Washington conference of the ACLU’s leading donors. The group, about seventy-five foundation executives, left-leaning businesspeople, and wealthy individuals, was about to be briefed on Romero’s and the ACLU’s agenda. Top items included election reform emanating from what the group perceived were the injustices of the 2000 Florida presidential contest, gay rights, abortion rights, and immigration reform.

The group was eager to see Romero in action. Romero was a Stanford-trained lawyer who had run the Ford Foundation’s extensive international human rights programs. A Bronx-born Puerto Rican and out-of-the-closet gay, he was, according to ACLU president Nadine Strossen, the product of an intensive affirmative action effort. As such, he was a sharp departure from his predecessor, a longtime executive director who had come out of the same civil rights/civil liberties community as most of those in the room.

Romero’s briefing in the hotel ballroom had not even begun when he was called out of the room and told about the planes hitting the towers. He quickly adjourned the meeting and just as quickly convened what became an almost all-day rump session of his top staff in the hotel coffee shop. “We did a list of what we thought they would try to do,” he remembers, referring not to the terrorists but to the government.

For ACLU Washington director Laura Murphy, who had worked at the ACLU on and off for seventeen years, the list was easy. “We simply had to remember what they had tried to pass after Oklahoma City but had not gotten away with,” she explains. “More wiretapping, more searches, less involvement of judges in warrants.”

Then came a list of what the ACLU would try to do immediately to stop the damage they feared—points they would make, allies they would recruit. That, too, produced little disagreement.

But at about 3:00, as they sat in the coffee shop drafting a press release, Romero had a first test of his power. Most of the staff wanted the press release to warn of the new threats to freedom that were certainly on the way. Romero wanted a statement expressing condolences for the victims and pledging to work with Congress and the White House to pass laws that would keep America “Safe and Free.”

The ACLU’s job was to keep America free, not safe, argued three of the six people at the coffee shop. Safety is the government’s job.

“Safety is what Americans care about today,” Romero countered. “That and grief. We need to be relevant. When they propose something, then we can hit them. But today we need to be relevant.”

The ACLU staff is a strong-willed group, and some had wondered whether their new leader—who was soft-spoken, had a ready smile, and was not the kind of person who instantly dominated a room, much less bullied it—would really be able to lead them. Romero seemed to be passing his first test.

Romero’s version of the release prevailed. But relevance is in the eyes of the beholder: The ACLU’s hotly debated statement was picked up by not a single television or print news outlet that day or any day thereafter.

 

Real estate developer Larry Silverstein was on his way to a dermatologist on the morning of the 11th, instead of the Trade Center—the multibillion-dollar complex where he had leveraged a $14 million personal investment in a partnership that owned the leasing rights to the buildings into bragging rights as the complex’s putative owner. Silverstein would tell the author five months later that he was so shocked and sickened by the destruction and by the loss of four of his employees that morning that he did not think he focused on issues like insurance or finances until “perhaps two weeks later.” In fact, according to his own lawyers, by that evening he was on the phone with them worrying whether his effort to shave costs when he’d bought insurance would now come back to hurt him, or whether his insurance policies could be read in a way that would construe the attacks as two separate, insurable incidents rather than one. The difference was roughly $3.55 billion versus $7.1 billion—the kind of gap corporate litigators dream of.

 

The windows and shelves in Salvatore Iacono’s shoe repair shop on lower Broadway shook slightly when the first plane hit. When he saw people across the street staring open-mouthed up at the sky, he went outside and saw the smoking North Tower three blocks away. Then he saw the second plane swoop over and hit the South Tower. That was enough for him. He was about to send his helper and the two shoeshine guys home and lock his tiny store when people in the office building where he is located began storming through the door that leads from the lobby into his store. The regular exit from the building was too crowded, so they had chosen his store as an alternative thoroughfare. It reminded Sal of those pictures he’d seen on TV of people running from the bulls in Spain, only they were all running through his shop, not a street. One of those fleeing stopped and commandeered the phone behind the counter. When he got off, another took it.

Then, the first tower came down and Sal was engulfed in dust and debris. The windows blew out. He was terrified. Stephen Johnson, an executive with the New York City Housing Authority who worked nearby and had become Sal’s friend after meeting him over a pair of worn shoes, came in and told him they had to leave. They locked the front door, but not before Sal did what he did every night at closing—said a prayer in front of the picture of the Virgin Mary hanging near the door.

Sal headed uptown with Johnson. Although Johnson was fifty-two and Sal sixty-seven, Johnson had to ask him to slow down. “I’m stronger than I look,” Sal would explain months later, flashing a big smile. “But it was really that I was so frightened. It felt like the world was over.”

Johnson left Sal at a wholesale leather shop near Chinatown, where they knew Sal and offered him a ride to Brooklyn. From there, Sal hitched a ride to his home in Staten Island, where he told his wife that “I never want to go back there again.”

For years, Sal—who looked and sounded meek but was anything but—had eked out a living repairing shoes, briefcases, and pocketbooks, taking in about $100,000 a year in sales and coming home with maybe $35,000 or $40,000 in profit for himself after paying his one employee and taking a cut from the two shoeshine guys who use his store. His customers loved him; some called him “Sal the Sole Man.” And he loved them back, often saying his store, called Continental Shoe Repair, was like another child. Now, he told his wife, he had nothing. No store. Equipment choked in dust and debris. And no customers likely to be back soon.

 

Edmund Woollen, a vice president of Raytheon, the giant military contractor, was running a small meeting on new products for special forces Army troops in his office on the twentieth floor of a chrome tower in Arlington, Virginia, when he heard what he thought was a sonic boom. He looked up and out his picture window and saw the flames and black smoke at the Pentagon, which was about a half mile away. Woollen had spent enough time in Vietnam to know that this was a fuel bomb of some kind. One of Woollen’s subordinates, who’d been a three-star general, looked across at the Pentagon, then grabbed for a phone. His wife worked on that side of the Pentagon. When his call to her yielded a dead line, he ran from Woollen’s office.

Woollen, fifty-six, who had served three Navy tours in the Vietnam War and had a pilot’s license, had assumed an hour before that the first plane going into the Trade Center could not have been an accident, but even after the second plane hit the towers, he had decided to keep to the day’s schedule, at least until he knew more. Now, with the attack on the Pentagon just outside his window, he decided that Raytheon’s work for the day was over. Who knew what the next target might be?

From his home, Woollen—who was aware that the National Guard rescue troops now on the scene at Ground Zero were equipped with all kinds of Raytheon products (such as their night-vision glasses), as were the forces likely to be deployed to search out and destroy the terrorists overseas (including the surveillance cameras and software being used by U-2 and Predator spy planes)—began to think about Raytheon’s possible role in the new world. Woollen and his colleagues didn’t talk about it that day, but everyone knew that Raytheon’s stock on September 10 (the market did not open on September 11) was at its lowest point in nearly two years. This tragedy might change that. After all, Raytheon’s primary “customer” was the American military and national security community, for whom it supplied everything from radar systems, to Sidewinder and Patriot missiles, to the kill vehicles used to shoot down enemy missiles.

Woollen’s job, along with 180 other Raytheon product managers and lobbyists in Washington, was to “stay close” to that customer, closer than dozens of equally determined competitors, large and small. It was a role that was about to take on all kinds of new, high-stakes dimensions—one that could make or break Woollen’s career.

 

Chubb Insurance Chairman and CEO Dean O’Hare—fifty-nine, perpetually tanned, perfectly coiffed—seemed like the country-club-groomed soul mate of the first President Bush. When O’Hare got the news of the attacks, he left the small airport in New Jersey where he was about to board the company jet for a trip to Pittsburgh and headed back to Chubb’s headquarters in Warren, New Jersey, which is about forty miles west of Manhattan. His people were already at work doing computer models that projected potential Chubb losses, which included payouts to clients such as Cantor Fitzgerald, the Wall Street trading house where Eileen Simon’s husband worked that would end up losing more than two thirds of its 1,000 American employees. After checking to make sure that none of Chubb’s 12,000 employees had been hurt in Manhattan, O’Hare went to work with his team on the computer models. Because they always have information about policies at the ready organized by locations and industries, they calculated that Chubb’s maximum exposure—provided the insurance they have from reinsurers kicked in—was $200 million. This included some insurance Chubb had sold to Silverstein’s World Trade Center, but the bulk of what Chubb would have to pay involved clients ranging from people whose cars had been destroyed at the Trade Center, to those with companies whose businesses had now been interrupted, to large companies who paid Chubb for insurance to compensate workers killed or injured on the job. To reassure investors and the financial markets, that afternoon they put out a press release describing the projected losses.

But already the lawyers in O’Hare’s conference room were raising a troubling issue. Because the President and others were calling this an act of war, and because acts of war were excluded from coverage on all insurance, what would Chubb do about the claims? More important, no matter what Chubb did, what would those reinsurers do? In other words, if Chubb wanted to pay the claims but its reinsurers—some of whom were foreign companies—took the position that they wouldn’t, Chubb could be on the hook for more than a billion dollars. Maybe they should hold off on the payouts until things become clearer, the lawyers counseled.

We’ll deal with that tomorrow, O’Hare decided.
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O’Hare, Eileen Simon, Kevin McCabe, and the rest of America went to sleep with lots to deal with the next day, from the personal to the global. Yesterday, Simon had not even needed to worry about writing checks. Now, she didn’t know how her family would pay the mortgage, or get the cash for groceries tomorrow, or even how she would find a key so she could retrieve her husband’s car at the train station (something she thought of at about 4:00 that morning and then was embarrassed to be worrying about).

How would the Cartier, Lyons, or Simon families get solace? How could Brian Lyons and everyone else at Ground Zero ever recover all the bodies? What would the 60,000 people who lived near the Trade Center do? How would Healy and her Red Cross help them? What would their landlords do about collecting rent on buildings that were not habitable?

What about the shopkeepers like Sal the Sole Man, who had some insurance but not nearly enough and not a clue about how to put in the right claims for it, let alone any way to make up for all the lost customers in a neighborhood that had suddenly become a ghost town, except for the rescue brigades? Could—would—a government run by people who eschewed activist government do something to rescue Sal? Eileen Simon? New York? The overall economy?

In a country already aching for tort reform, how would the legal system deal with tens of thousands of lawsuits seeking billions of dollars? Would this become the ultimate tort claims meltdown? Plane crashes usually involve a few hundred victims at most. This one had thousands more on the ground at the Trade Center and the Pentagon, and the airlines’ insurance couldn’t possibly cover that. How would the airlines ever fly again? Who would think it was safe enough to get on board at Cox’s airport in Memphis, or anyplace else? And where would the airlines get the money to fly the planes, given all that they would lose while traffic was grounded and the billions more they’d lose from the lawsuits?

Would Magistri’s InVision now get the business he had dreamed of, and if it did, would he be able to produce the machines on time? Would Woollen and Raytheon be able to beat their competitors in what seemed might become a whole new homeland security industry?

How would Silverstein and everyone else with a stake in what would become of the Trade Center area ever resolve their inevitably competing interests about what and how to rebuild, and who would pay for it? Was the Trade Center wreckage destined to sit there for a decade or two while the lawyers, the zoning activists, the environmentalists, and the real estate moguls fought it out? Could Schumer persuade Washington to help his devastated city?

What about the stock markets and brokerage houses, headquartered only blocks away and now largely without electricity, telephone and data lines, or breathable air? When could they reopen and what would happen to stock prices once they did?

And could a country whose big debate the morning before had been about the sex life of an obscure California congressman (Gary Condit)—and whose President and Attorney General were out that morning reading to schoolchildren—now deal with fundamental issues, such as making it safe to cross a bridge or tunnel, or take in a baseball game, or go to work in an office tower?

Was the President—elected in controversy, and for whom gravitas seemed to be more a challenging vocabulary word than a defining trait—up to it? Was Congress, perpetually gridlocked and seemingly beholden to platoons of lobbyists, up to it? Were their constituents, who seemed to prefer gridlock to action from a government they didn’t trust, up to it? Could a country where the book Bowling Alone by Robert Putnam had struck such a nerve, because it seemed to express the American people’s withdrawal from civic engagement, come back together to help the victims and fight the new enemy?

The terrorists had, indeed, not only achieved a devastating surprise attack, but they also seemed to have gone after a weak enemy that would be unable to respond. “I think they thought we were soft,” President Bush later said in several speeches. “I think they figured we would just sue them.” The American adults of September 11 weren’t, it seemed, the “greatest generation.” They were the children of the greatest—a soft-news-fixated generation that, at best, read books and watched TV shows about the greatest generation. And they lived in a country that, depending on your view, had made great strides in protecting the unprotected, or had become gummed up by regulations, interest group paralysis, and bureaucratic inertia. Either way, it was a more complicated world, a place where swift, decisive action seemed impossible. Imagine if Franklin Roosevelt had had to deal with environmental impact statements, equal opportunity requirements, or vendors seeking indemnification from tort suits before anyone lifted a shovel to break ground on a new airplane factory.

How, then, could America deal with the calamity that was September 11, including not only the devastating damage that had closed the stock markets and other commerce, downed the airlines, and put a giant, fiery hole in the nation’s greatest city, but had also ripped the facade away from decades of national security policy. Suddenly, the bedrock of America’s strategic defense and foreign policy—deterrence—meant nothing, because it had become breathtakingly, we-will-never-be-the-same clear that the country faced a new kind of enemy for whom deterrence meant nothing.

Since the mid-1990s, policy wonks had been talking about this new, coming threat. About how America had lived in relative safety during the Cold War, when the country only had to worry that the leader of a superpower would be mad enough to try to annihilate the world’s number one superpower. And about how that equation had changed, as technology combined with globalization had conspired, first, to enable madmen controlling smaller countries to threaten the United States, and, now, to allow madmen who didn’t even control any kind of flag to threaten America in a way Hitler had never been able to and Khrushchev had never wanted to.

Those who had sounded that alarm had played to relatively sparse audiences, while everyone else focused on OJ or the dot-coms. Now everyone saw what they saw—that America had no good way to protect itself against an enemy whose method, it was now clear, was to blend in and then commit suicidal acts of terror, be it with nuclear suitcases, airplanes, trucks, or biological weapons, all aimed at scaring the country out of its way of life. Was there any way Ashcroft could root out that kind of enemy within, let alone do it without hacking away at everyone else’s rights? How “relevant” could Romero and his ACLU be in this new world?

Could McCabe really protect his port? Would Lindemann and the Border Patrol ever be able to secure America’s 7,500 miles of land and water borders? Indeed, could the Immigration and Naturalization Service, for whom Lindemann worked, ever get its act together? The America of September 10 was so open that 1,660,000 people—760,000 citizens and 900,000 foreigners—had entered or exited the country’s borders on that one day. How could anyone possibly know, let alone control, who they were and what their intentions were? How could the government do any of that without creating a nation of informants, personal databases, security bottlenecks, and identity checks, which would achieve the terrorists’ goals for them, by freezing commerce and snuffing out the country’s freedoms?

This is the story of how these Americans—some well known, others not known at all—struggled over the next year to stand themselves and their country up to these challenges, the challenges of the September 12 era. On September 11, they were strangers to one another. A year later, many would have crossed paths in a series of surprising alliances and confrontations.

Theirs is a story of patriotism and amazing displays of American grit. But it is also a story of a constant clash of interests—“special interests”—competing in the boisterous, open arena that is America. Indeed, the first year of the September 12 era became a modern, vivid test of a country that has flourished not only on patriotism and strength of spirit, but also because it allows, even encourages, its people and institutions to seek to advance their own interests.

* Unless otherwise noted, any thought attributed to anyone in this narrative is based on the author having talked to that person. A full explanation of sources can be found in the Source Notes in the back of the book.

* All quotations of conversations held between others that were not heard by the author are contained within quotation marks if one or more of the people involved in the conversation spoke with the author about it. However, it should be remembered that even in those situations a person’s recollection of a conversation may not be exact. If the person or people in a conversation did not seem to the author to have an exact recollection of the conversation, it is paraphrased and not put within quotation marks. In some instances conversations are italicized because they were long, and, although the participants seemed to have a good recollection of what was said, italics are used to indicate that the printed words are unlikely to be exactly what was said in every respect.

* In 1996 and 1997, while not working as a journalist covering politics or Schumer, the author contributed to Schumer’s first Senate campaign.
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Wednesday, September 12, 2001



After breakfast, Eileen Simon and her brother-in-law went through the credenza in the living room that Michael Simon used to store bills and his checkbook. They looked for invoices that needed to be paid and for any sign of the life insurance policy that Eileen remembered her husband had gotten from Cantor Fitzgerald, the bond trading firm that had employed him and about 1,000 others working in the North Tower’s top floors. More urgent was their search for an extra set of keys to the antique Mercedes that Michael had left at the train station, and the form from the bank that she could use to get her signature onto the checking account. There was no key. Later, she’d find the signature form and try to take it to the bank, but would be told that she couldn’t use it because Michael was supposed to have co-signed it. Her brother-in-law had offered to sign it for him, but she had been afraid to do that. So she had no access to her money. A few days later she’d write one of the checks to her brother-in-law anyway, who then gave her cash and successfully deposited it in his bank account. She’d use that system for several weeks.

In the afternoon, Eileen took a large flag that a neighbor had brought over and went to hang it over the front porch, where the kids kept their sports equipment and bicycles. But the children became hysterical. “Mommy,” shrieked one of the children. “If you do that, they’ll find us and kill us like they killed Daddy.” After tearfully calming them down and explaining how important it was to show the flag and not be afraid, she went ahead and hung it.

Unbeknownst to Eileen and her children, her in-laws were not so sure anyone had killed Michael Simon. Sometime that afternoon, her sister-in-law went to a website set up by Cantor Fitzgerald and, after a while, started whispering feverishly to her brother, Scott. Michael was listed there as a survivor who was in a New York hospital, though it did not say which one, she told her brother. Without telling Eileen, Scott Simon set out for New York to find the man whose wife had been so sure, so immediately, that he had perished. Michael Simon’s family had hope even if his wife didn’t.
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When the sun came up over the Memphis airport on Wednesday, September 12, Larry Cox was sure of one thing: He should have splurged and bought automatic pumps for those 5,000 inflatable mattresses. His staff was bone-tired from pumping them by hand. He was still juggling local media interviews, while scrounging for food and water for the 8,000 people still marooned at his airport. Some refused to leave, despite the willingness of the city’s families to take them in for a day or two.

Meantime, Cox’s fax machine was still spitting out new security directives from the FAA on issues ranging from new fencing requirements around the airport to the security of the planes parked at ramps. Another directive ordered all airports to prohibit travel accessory stores and other shops inside the checkpoints from selling knives. The order seemed to illustrate to Cox and anyone else who read it how much the world had changed in less than a day. Selling Swiss Army knives to people about to board jetliners now seemed suicidal.

One FAA fax that Cox didn’t get that morning, but which made him angry when he heard about it months later, was one the agency sent to the airlines. It was a list of about 300 people who the airlines were told were considered dangerous by the FBI, the CIA, or the FAA. When flights resumed, the directive said, these people were not to be allowed on board.

One top American Airlines executive, who had been up all night helping to get the airline’s planes back in the air (plus tending to the human and legal issues beginning to emerge from the fact that two of American’s planes had been used by the hijackers), was incredulous. Why had they waited until September 12 to send us that, he wondered. They must have had a list on September 10.

Indeed, they would have had such a list had the FAA simply compiled and sent, as they now had done on September 12, the separate lists that the FBI and the CIA had been sending the FAA for at least the prior six months, naming people who were flight risks. The lists were sent to Lee Longmire, a longtime FAA official, who was Director of Civil Aviation Security Policy. They were on his desk on September 10, Longmire acknowledges, although he would refuse to comment about what he did with them or who was on them. But according to an FAA official and a Justice Department official, two of the hijackers were on those September 10 lists—something that Ashcroft would later say he could not confirm or deny. In fact, says the FAA official, his agency had crossed those names off on September 12 to avoid embarrassment. “We just never got around to setting up a protocol for who would control the list and how we would get the airlines to implement it,” says the FAA person.

Among the recriminations to follow in the months after September 11 over who knew what and when that might have prevented the attacks, this failure of the FAA to circulate that no-fly list—unlike other supposed failures to “connect the dots”—seems clearly to have resulted in, or contributed to, at least two of the hijackings. That the airlines never complained about it publicly said a great deal about that industry’s symbiotic relationship with its regulators. For years, the airlines—an industry whose product is regulated from Washington like almost no other—and the FAA have had a mutual support relationship. Their personnel regularly switched sides, going from the agency to one of the airlines’ large Washington lobbying offices and back again. They attended the same conventions, and, most of all, they thought of themselves more as partners than adversaries, which had its positive side in the sense that overbearing regulators could easily strangle an industry like this. So, the airlines rarely complained publicly about the FAA, and the FAA didn’t hassle the airlines about issues like security.

In fact, on September 11, the FAA was two years overdue on delivering new explosive detection baggage screening regulations mandated by Congress, and its lawyers were at an off-site conference that day discussing what to do with a backlog of 10,000 allegations of breaches of security and hazardous materials regulations that it had not yet acted on.

It was an arrangement that airport directors like Cox resented because, in their view, when the FAA wanted to show it was getting tough on safety, it would send inspectors to check on how well Cox was securing his gates or exit doors, rather than check the baggage screeners, who were under the control of the airlines and who generally operated in a way meant not to hassle customers. For example, the screeners, who were employed by private security companies, never quibbled over whether the customer was bringing a razor blade or a knife on board, as long as the knife’s blade was less than 4.5 inches long—a bizarre standard whose history no one at the FAA after September 11 could remember, let alone own up to.

At 11:00 on the night of September 12, things changed. The CEOs of the airlines participated in a conference call with Norman Mineta, the Secretary of the Department of Transportation, which oversees the FAA. It was a conversation that signaled a new era in federal regulation. A Republican administration that had eschewed Washington regulatory power—albeit with a former Democratic congressman, Mineta, at the DOT helm—was about to flex Washington’s muscles.

Mineta had told President Bush on September 11 that he’d have the planes up the next day, but September 12 had come and gone. Now the airline executives expected Mineta was calling with the good news that things were go for the next morning.

The call was anything but good news. Mineta sat at his conference table with, among others, John Flaherty, his chief of staff and longtime aide, and Deputy Secretary Michael Jackson, a veteran of the first Bush administration and a Republican, who had worked at aerospace giant Lockheed Martin during the Clinton years.

Because of a classic conference call snafu, Mineta, Flaherty, and Jackson knew that the airlines expected to get the go-ahead even before the call officially started, because they could hear them talking among themselves before Mineta activated his own speaker signaling that the Transportation Department people were on the line. Instead, Mineta told the airlines that they weren’t going to fly unless and until a whole raft of new regulations were implemented. These included more careful baggage screening, no razor blades or knives of any kind, no curbside check-in, National Guardsmen at the airports, the hand-searching of a large sample of passengers and their carry-on bags even after they had gone through metal detectors, and arrangements made to accommodate as many as 600 new armed sky marshals immediately to ride (in first class) on selected flights.

Deputy Secretary Jackson told the airline executives they ought to be able to do all that by Thursday or Friday. The airline CEOs said that was impossible. Mineta said they had no choice. The airline people protested that they were running out of cash and would need a federal bailout even if they started flying as early as tomorrow. One offered to fax over a tally they’d begun working up of all the losses. Flaherty and Jackson said they’d consider all that once they got the planes up. They should also understand, Mineta added, that a lot more regulations were on the way, from Congress and the White House.

 

The Red Cross had gotten some of its people and a van to the Trade Center within thirty minutes of when the first plane hit, which was fifteen minutes better than the forty-five minute standard it sets for itself to be on the scene with refreshments and a blanket at each of the 37,000 fires and other disasters it would cover during 2001, including 185 the week of September 10.

This was like none of those other 37,000. By Wednesday morning there were three different lines stretching blocks from the headquarters of the Red Cross’s New York Chapter on the West Side of Manhattan, about seven miles north of Ground Zero. One line was for people who wanted to give blood. A second was for volunteers, 2,000 of whom would be trained on that day alone. And the third was for people who wanted to give money. They came with coins, dollar bills, and hundred-dollar bills, some in buckets, some in envelopes.

Those were just the people who waited on line. Others gave more spontaneously. By Wednesday afternoon, New York Chapter president Robert Bender had shuttled back and forth so often to the satellite care centers set up overnight that he had not taken off his Red Cross vest. Now, as he started to walk to a meeting in midtown, he had to remove it because he couldn’t make his way. People were crowding him on the street, trying to give money.

Yet such was the estrangement between local chapters like Bender’s and national headquarters that while Bender had been in contact with the national operations centers (requesting and receiving volunteers who drove in that night from as far away as Ohio), he and Healy—the organization’s national CEO—had not spoken as of Wednesday afternoon.

Meantime, in Washington, the Red Cross website had crashed under the weight of donors and volunteers trying to log on. So much money was pouring into the palatial headquarters that the finance staff there—used to reviewing monthly bank statements, not counting and bundling dollars—didn’t know what to do with it all.

Healy did. She wanted to segregate it—to keep it from going into the Red Cross’s general disaster fund, where it might be used on all varieties of Red Cross efforts and expenses, and where much of it might also be disbursed to the local chapters. The Red Cross, whose board is controlled by leaders of the local chapters, had a long-standing policy allowing any local unit to claim up to 10 percent of any funds sent to the national Red Cross from donors in their jurisdictions. The rest stayed in a general national fund. In her short tenure Healy and her staff had already begun to refer to that fund as a “leaky bucket,” because, in their view, the money was never well accounted for, often wasted, and in some cases stolen.

Healy was a forceful, take-no-prisoners executive, not prone to agonize over decisions. And she arrived at this decision instinctively, indeed on the fly. It crystallized in the midst of a chaotic scene outside Red Cross headquarters that afternoon. Healy was standing on the steps of the imposing marble building a few blocks from the White House, shooting a commercial for donations that her communications staff had said she should get on the air as soon as possible. Around her were hundreds of people lined up on the sidewalk and the steps waiting to give blood. Staffers, many who’d been up all night, scurried about. She had a few minutes to shoot the ad. When it got to the end of the script for the thirty-second spot, Healy heard herself reading the standard language that the Red Cross had always used to allow it to raise millions on the notoriety of a high-profile disaster, such as a hurricane or earthquake, and then use the money not just for the big disaster but also for the garden-variety fires and floods that are the charity’s daily work: “The funds raised will be used for this and other disasters,” the standard punch line went. But as she stood on the steps looking out at what she viewed as wartime Washington, Healy realized she did not want to say that, because she did not want to commingle this money into the general fund. So, on the spot, she and the staff decided to delete the disclaimer about “other disasters.” Healy had no intention of using this money for fires, floods, or hurricanes, and she knew that the corporate CEOs she had already talked to about six-and seven-figure donations didn’t expect that she would.

Later that afternoon, Healy drafted new language to put into all future solicitations: The funds raised would be used “for this disaster and emerging needs related to this tragedy,” she now said. The related, emerging needs would be the blood reserve drives, other preparations, and, if necessary, aid to the victims of new attacks, all related to the new war on terrorism, and all consistent with what she was telling the big donors she was talking to individually. None of the money would go into the Red Cross’s general disaster fund, let alone be siphoned off by local chapters.

A new policy had been made, one whose ramifications for her organization and her own career Healy—who ironically would later be publicly chastised for not using all of the September 11 money to help September 11 victims—didn’t come close to appreciating as she stood at the center of this M*A*S*H-like scene.

 

Across town from the Red Cross New York headquarters, two of that city’s oldest, most prominent but most different charities occupied different floors of Two Park Avenue. Since the beginning of the twentieth century, the New York Community Trust has been tending to the legacies of wealthy people who had established 1,600 different charitable trusts worth a total of more than $2 billion. The staff of the Community Trust made grants from these funds based on what these individual trusts were set up to do—aid education, support the arts, help the homeless, finance good government, and so on. The United Way of Greater New York, on the other hand, was a repository of employee and corporate giving programs. Unlike the Red Cross, neither actually operated relief programs; rather, they gave grants to organizations that demonstrate that they can.

Beginning the afternoon of September 11 and resuming in earnest the next morning, the leaders and staff of both groups met to talk about combining forces for a charity to help victims of the attacks. They both wanted to do something, and figured they had special capabilities to create a fund that could focus more on the longer-term needs of victims than could the Red Cross, with its historic emphasis on providing shelter, food, and other immediate aid. The United Way had enormous fund-raising credibility, and the Community Trust had great experience finding organizations on the ground that could administer aid targeted at specific needs. What both didn’t have was a lot of ego. Unlike the Red Cross, neither group wanted the limelight, let alone an operating role, in doling out what they thought might be millions of dollars to thousands of recipients. So by mid-morning they issued a press release announcing a September 11th Fund that would raise money and funnel it in grants to groups and organizations best able to help victims. The release was carefully and candidly worded to say that this fund would not only try to help the families of those who had died or were injured but “all those affected by the tragedy.” By the afternoon, their website, which unlike the Red Cross’s, never crashed, was receiving a flood of pledges—one every five to ten seconds. Within two days, the new fund would have more than $66 million.

 

By midday, Brian Lyons, the construction engineer, was exhausted. Although he still considered himself athletic, the last decade he had spent supervising construction projects from behind a desk, instead of doing the work himself, had taken a toll. He’d developed a paunch, which gave his average size frame a bit of a fireplug look.

Lyons was short of breath, and his hands and arms already hurt. But he kept picking away through the devastation that had already come to be called Ground Zero, helping to figure out which buildings or parts of buildings were about to crash down, while looking for his firefighter brother. Everywhere he looked there was devastation, but not the type one would have expected from the collapse of the giant office towers. Although there must have been 20,000 computer terminals and as many desks in those buildings, he saw none. Months later, the police inspector in overall charge of sifting all the recovered debris would report recovering no terminals, one leg of one desk, and two phone handsets. The inferno ignited by the jumbo jets full of fuel had been such that all Lyons saw were some steel beams. And ash.

Still, the tally wasn’t as grim as it might have been. When terrorists had bombed the parking garage of the Trade Center in 1993, it had taken four hours to evacuate the buildings. This time, because of improved stairway lighting, repeated fire drills, and other measures, it had taken forty minutes. As a result, and with the help of the police and firefighters who rushed in, almost all of those working in the towers below where the planes had hit had escaped. An emergency drill at the Pentagon a month before—which had simulated, eerily, a plane crashing into the building—had helped hold down the casualties there, too.*

As evening approached, Lyons parlayed his pickup role on a team evaluating the structural safety of the debris that was still standing (or leaning) into a job directing the first bulldozers that had arrived. Now, he thought, he was really being useful. So useful that he didn’t leave. Not for dinner. Not that night. In fact he didn’t leave for ten more days. And then he would leave only for a day and come back for seven more weeks, stopping only to sleep a few hours a day in a car, on a boat, in a church, or at the Red Cross tent.

 

Ed Woollen’s boss, Raytheon CEO Dan Burnham, decided to code-name it Project Yankee. On the phone from his Lexington, Massachusetts, office on Wednesday afternoon to Woollen in Arlington, overlooking the wreckage at the Pentagon, Burnham asked Woollen to take over a whole new business development portfolio. It would be devoted to creating and selling products related to what both agreed would now be a new era in American history: the era of homeland security.

They should call their new effort Project Yankee for now, they agreed, rather than something with homeland security in the name, because they did not want to seem as if they were taking advantage of the situation.

It wasn’t that they were doing anything wrong or underhanded, they reasoned. But they didn’t want people to get the wrong idea. “Our company is in business to give shareholders a return on their risk capital,” Burnham says. “But I also believe that we are a national asset and that we can provide comfort and security to the country. I don’t want to be sanctimonious about it, but I decided that day that we had not only a good business opportunity but an obligation to the country to start to think about all this.”

Read up on all those old studies and commission reports on homeland security, Burnham told Woollen, and then they’d put together a real plan the following week.
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John Ashcroft wasn’t waiting for anything to happen next week. He wanted results now. At about the same time that Romero of the ACLU was ordering his staff to cancel a direct mail solicitation planned to go out the next day—focused on “the new anti-liberty era being unveiled by President George Bush” and on how Americans should be “ashamed” of the “new morality” being pushed by, among others, John Ashcroft—the Attorney General had a morning meeting with the President and his national security team. When FBI Director Robert Mueller assured Bush that everything was being done to track down those who had been involved in the attacks, Bush upbraided him. “Our priorities have changed,” he said. “We need to focus on preventing the next attack more than worrying about who did this one.” Ashcroft was determined to enforce that focus, even if it meant living in the FBI’s operations center.

“Focus” was not a good word to describe what the FBI had been doing since the attacks. Activity, yes. But not focus.

True, they had pulled the passenger lists of the four planes and figured out who the hijackers probably were. (This was due in part to phone calls the flight attendants and passengers on the planes had made before the crashes, in which they had identified the hijackers’ seat numbers. Also, these were pretty much the only people with Middle Eastern names on the planes, and in several instances they had bought tickets together.) But beyond that, what the FBI had done was to begin running down the tens of thousands of names on those INS immigration lists, go after a handful of prior leads on Middle Eastern terrorists, and otherwise respond to calls.

Thousands of calls.

Just the Newark office of the FBI—whose jurisdiction includes Middle Eastern immigrant enclaves like Paterson, New Jersey, where it was already known that several of the hijackers had lived—received more than 5,000 citizen calls between the afternoon of September 11 and the end of the day on September 12. Whether the government should engage in racial or ethnic profiling would be hotly debated in the months ahead. But among Americans sitting in their homes or offices contemplating the horror of September 11 there was no such debate. One by one Americans did their own ad hoc racial profiling. It seemed that anyone who had ever seen a Muslim or suspected a neighbor of being a Muslim called in. Some reported suspicious-smelling food in a neighboring house or apartment; others reported seeing people in Muslim garb whispering. There were so many calls that the lines jammed and the phones had to be kicked over to FBI operators in the Atlanta office. One by one, Newark-based agents, working through the night and helped by local police, ran down each call, a process that would last through Thanksgiving and ultimately include 27,000 face-to-face interviews from September 12 through February.

The agents and their supervisors tried to prioritize. Obviously, a call about suspicious food smells should be attended to after a tip about three men with guns coming in and out of an apartment at all hours of the day. But mostly they went after everything. And for good reason. From his command post in the FBI operations center, Ashcroft told Mueller that any male from eighteen to forty years old from Middle Eastern or North African countries whom the FBI simply learned about was to be questioned and questioned hard. And anyone from these countries whose immigration papers were out of order—anyone—was to be turned over to the INS. Ashcroft then put Michael Chertoff, the head of his Justice Department Criminal Division, in de facto charge of these INS roundups, even though the INS process was supposed to be part of a civil law proceeding, not a criminal prosecution. The goal, Ashcroft and Chertoff told the FBI and INS agents, was to prevent more attacks, not prosecute anyone. And the best way to do that was to round up, question, and hold as many people as possible.

That was not a message, however, that made it to Lindemann, the INS Border Patrol agent in Detroit. It seemed as if it had been forever since the Border Patrol regarded itself as part of the INS, let alone the Justice Department. September 11 hadn’t changed that. So now, while the FBI and INS in New Jersey began rounding up people with families who had worked for years at gas stations or pizza parlors, Lindemann and his fellow Border Patrol agents were instructed to keep to business as usual in the north. That meant that what Lindemann had bitterly come to call the Catch and Release Program, or CARP, would continue in the days and weeks after September 11. He and his partner, Mark Hall, would catch people sneaking over the border into Detroit from Canada and then be told by supervisors to release them because the Border Patrol unit only had a $1,000 a week to pay the local jail to hold people.

A significant portion of those Lindemann and Hall had caught and released in recent years—perhaps 25 percent—were Muslim, which was no surprise because the Detroit area has the country’s largest Muslim community. And Canada, which had notoriously looser border controls than the United States (people coming in from twenty different countries, such as Saudi Arabia, who needed visas to get into the United States do not need visas to get into Canada), was known as a hotbed of terrorist activity. Everyone Lindemann caught was, by definition, breaking the law and, unlike many of those being rounded up and held in New Jersey, had no roots in the community. But they continued to be released after filling out a form and promising to come back for a deportation hearing, which, of course, they never did. Lindemann’s and Hall’s repeated protests to the bosses, which now became more vehement than ever, were ignored. “I was getting to the point where I couldn’t stand it anymore,” Lindemann recalls. “I felt like I had to do something.”

 

Larry Silverstein got a lot of sympathy calls on Wednesday. His buildings had been knocked down and four of his employees (part of an early vanguard of a planned move of his entire company into the Trade Center) were missing. But, according to two people who called him that morning, Silverstein soon changed the subject. He had talked to his lawyers at Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz—a premier corporate firm that was so well regarded and so leanly structured that for more than a decade it had earned more money per partner than any of its New York competitors—and he had a clear legal strategy mapped out. They were going to prove, Silverstein told one of the callers, that the way his insurance policies were written the two planes crashing into the two towers had been two different “occurrences,” not part of the same event. That would give him more than $7 billion to rebuild, instead of the $3.55 billion that his insurance policy said was the maximum for one “occurrence.” And rebuild was just what he was going to do, he vowed.

In Nashville, Tennessee, where Silverstein’s insurance brokers were stranded at a meeting, there was quite a different perception. On a conference call with colleagues in New York and London, Silverstein’s lead insurance broker on the deal told the others that it seemed to him that under the policy as written this was one occurrence.

To be sure, everything was clouded by the fact that no formal documents had been signed; Silverstein had taken over the Trade Center only six weeks before, and the final documents for the insurance had not been finished. But a deal memo using his broker’s policy had been circulated and seemingly agreed to.

By mid-morning, Silverstein put the rebuilding process in motion. He called his architect—David Childs of the renowned Skidmore, Owings & Merrill firm, who had recently been retained by Silverstein to plan a refurbishing of the Trade Center. Start sketching out a plan for a whole new place, Silverstein told Childs, who was working at home because his office, just two blocks from the Twin Towers, had been evacuated. Childs would later marvel that in that initial conversation Silverstein was already keenly focused on another legal issue. He told Childs—who, like most good architects, had always thought of the Trade Center as a monstrosity—that he had to plan to build the exact same number of square feet of office space as had been destroyed. The reason, Silverstein explained, was that his lease with the Trade Center required that, in the event of a catastrophe like this, they had to let him build that much space. More important, the lease required that he actually build it. If one side was going to decide not to rebuild two 110-story towers, it wasn’t going to be Silverstein. His best legal position was for him to get the Port Authority to blink first.

 

The lawyers in Dean O’Hare’s conference room at Chubb’s headquarters in New Jersey had done as much research as they could, looking not only at the case law and what the Chubb policies said, but also at how the White House and others in Washington had described the attack as an act of war. In fact, Silverstein had by now even called a staffer in Senator Schumer’s office, urging her (as if she could) to get the President and others to stop calling it war, because it endangered his entire insurance coverage and, therefore, the rebuilding of the Trade Center. (Chubb was one of the many Silverstein insurers, though with a relatively small stake—$100 million or $200 million, depending on how many occurrences it had been. The bulk of the insurance at issue for Chubb involved the hundreds of policies the company had sold to businesses, car owners, and even homeowners in lower Manhattan, all of whom had now suffered tremendous losses.)

According to White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, President Bush was told about the possible insurance ramifications of calling this an act of war, but he insisted on “calling it what it was.” Another White House staffer says that the President declared he was going to call it war, and that they should “work on” the insurance companies.

Thanks to O’Hare, they didn’t need to be worked on. At about 3:00 he came into the cavernous, formal conference room where his board meetings were usually held. It was full of lawyers and executives, their papers of cases and authorities strewn about. No one said that coverage should be denied outright. But there were strong arguments either to delay and do nothing until another insurer announced something, or to issue what in the insurance industry is known as a “reservation of rights,” which meant that Chubb would say that it might pay now but later seek return of the payments if the facts and law warranted that. Nobody knew if Syria or Iraq was involved, argued one lawyer, which would, indeed, make this an act of war. (Remember, this was just a day after the attacks.) And who knew if this Al Qaeda group, or whatever it was called, wasn’t really the Afghans? Besides, what would the reinsurers—who insured Chubb against about $1.5 billion of what by today seemed to have grown to be $2 billion of potential claims against Chubb—do? Could O’Hare risk that?

O’Hare had already called one of his key reinsurers, a company called General Re, controlled by financier Warren Buffett. He knew that Buffett was prepared to do what’s called “follow the lead,” meaning his reinsurance would follow what the insurer, in this case Chubb, did. But he wasn’t so sure about the other reinsurers, nor was he sure what some of the insurers would do. He’d heard of two specific competitors who were talking openly, at least in insurance circles, about reserving their rights. He just wasn’t sure.

But O’Hare was sure of one thing, which was that Chubb’s history and culture were based on being the company that always was first and most eager to honor its policies. He bragged about that endlessly. So did his employees. When brokers sold policies, they made a point of telling customers that Chubb was the most honorable, the most hassle-free insurer. Now he was presented with a once-in-a-lifetime test of this Chubb credo. “For us to have done anything different now, for us to not have taken the lead,” he explains, “would have been bad business. It would have erased everything we have stood for all these years. And it would have been wrong.”

Without calling a single board member—this was a management decision, he decided, not a change in policy—O’Hare told the staff to issue a press release the first thing next morning announcing that Chubb was honoring all claims and was going to start writing checks within a day.

When the release came out the next morning, it was not a moment too soon. Just before it was issued, an insurance industry newsletter on the Internet speculated that insurers could invoke the act of war exclusion, and reporters were already calling around to insurance companies asking what they intended to do. The Chubb announcement ended that speculation, because it was soon followed by Chubb’s competitors saying they, too, were prepared to honor all claims.

The act of war insurance question, says White House economic policy advisor Larry Lindsey, was an issue that, if left unanswered, could have really caused a panic. “But we deserve no credit for solving it. We hadn’t gotten to it yet.”

Indeed, on Wednesday afternoon Lindsey had lots of other issues to deal with, especially the suspension of the country’s financial markets.

 

As undersecretary of the treasury for domestic finance, Peter Fisher was the executive branch’s man in charge of the United States financial system. A former wunderkind at the Federal Reserve Board and Harvard-trained lawyer, Fisher was Treasury Secretary Paul O’Neill’s point man when it came to policy on markets, interest rates, and the like. His influence was now magnified by the fact that O’Neill was traveling in Japan.

Fisher, forty-five, had been sent home Tuesday evening with a special, secure satellite telephone. It was a bulky contraption, and he felt embarrassed carrying it on the Metro. That night he had talked nonstop—though not on the satellite phone, because he couldn’t figure out how to work it—to, among others, Lindsey; Richard Grasso, the Chairman and CEO of the New York Stock Exchange; and Harvey Pitt, the Chairman of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The four were trying to figure out how to reopen the stock markets, which hadn’t even opened Tuesday morning. The President wants them open by Thursday, Lindsey kept repeating. Fisher and Pitt were game. Grasso was dubious.

That may have been because Grasso was closer to the scene, literally. Spreading his small frame on the long couch alongside his desk, Grasso was on the phone all night from his office at Broad and Wall streets, about three blocks from the Trade Center. He had refused to leave, and now he knew that while his own building had been spared, much around him had not.

By 10:00 this morning, Fisher and Pitt were on a train to New York, where Grasso, having been urged to do so by Lindsey, had convened a meeting, at the Bear Stearns brokerage house in midtown, of the CEOs of key Wall Street banks and brokerages.

Fisher, who had a knack for not being too serious about his serious job, would remember the gathering of Wall Street’s top thirty or forty moguls as “the quintessential twenty-first-century business meeting…. We went around the room listening to all these CEOs, and the guy from Treasury (me), and the SEC chairman. Then we all stopped and turned to the tech guy—the guy from Verizon. He was the most important guy in the room.”

The real issues were, indeed, matters of high and low technology. Could the phone and data lines be restored?

That was no small problem. Verizon had a major switching and transmission station (actually a grand, thirty-one-story building that had been built as the headquarters of the old New York Telephone Company) next door to the Trade Center. Much of one side of that building had been sheared off by falling debris from the now collapsed Seven World Trade Center. The rest had been decimated by steel beams harpooning it as the towers had collapsed, and by flooding in the basement that had come when the beams pulverized the water mains underneath. Hundreds of miles of cable for phones and Internet connections had been sliced and diced, and floors full of switching machines had been flooded, smoked, or pierced into junk. As it happened, the phone lines for the New York Stock Exchange itself came from another switching station, but much of its long distance service came via that old telephone company headquarters building; and all of the services for several of the brokerage houses came from there. On top of that, a major Con Edison electric station had been destroyed at the Trade Center, which meant that the phone company’s power was out and was not likely to come back before the backup generators were used up.

Yet, as Lawrence Babbio, the president of Verizon’s telecommunications, now explained it to the slack-jawed executives, this was one way in which the terrorists had weakened their punch by attacking Manhattan. For Manhattan had a richer telecommunications infrastructure, including more redundancies in equipment, than any place on earth. So while that building would be a near-total loss for months, huge cables could be laid running into and out of the building and along the streets to other facilities, while switches were rebuilt and reworked so that the Stock Exchange and the brokerage houses could be up and running in days.

How many days are we talking about, asked Fisher, playing the bad guy. Three to five, Babbio estimated.

How about they shoot for Saturday for a test run and then get everything ironed out Sunday to open on Monday, Grasso suggested.

We’ll try, Babbio said, not really knowing exactly how or if he really could.

The press was waiting outside the meeting, and Fisher now had a choice. He could spend the next ten minutes explaining to Lindsey, who was waiting at the White House to hear from him, why reopening tomorrow, Thursday, was not going to happen. Or he could figure out with Grasso and the others how to frame the announcement as positively as possible, meaning he’d let Lindsey and the others at the White House watch the announcement like everyone else.

Fisher knew from a conference call he’d been in on during the train ride up that the bond markets—which trade in corporate and government IOUs rather than stock ownership—were much closer to being able to open, because so many of them had multiple operations in places outside New York. So, after Fisher checked in on a meeting going on elsewhere among bond market leaders, he and Grasso announced that the bond markets would open for business tomorrow and that the New York Stock Exchange along with the Nasdaq and the American Exchange (which would have to use space at the New York Stock Exchange) would open on Monday. They cited the communications breakdowns, as well as the desire not to have stock exchange workers interfere in the days just after the attacks with rescue and recovery efforts.

 

As the Verizon workers began stringing cable out the windows of their almost fallen building that afternoon, Michael Cartier, having bicycled from his parents’ house in Queens, rode by with his brother John. They were on their way up from the Trade Center, where they had posted pictures of their brother James wherever they could, to check the hospitals. A volunteer at one hospital told them there was a master list at another hospital, so they kept riding. They found no list, so they made the rounds of other hospitals and police precincts. Still no lists. Later that evening they found a list. James wasn’t on it.

They rode back that night to their parents’ house. It was now flying a flag alongside flags displayed at all the homes bunched onto the block of this working-class Queens neighborhood, a place where one got the sense that the people with Police and Fire Department hats at the corner 7-Eleven hadn’t bought them at a souvenir shop. The house, where the six Cartier brothers and sisters and their parents and friends and a priest were gathered, had become command central in the battle to find James Cartier and bring him home, alive or otherwise. As the weeks went by, command central would take on a life of its own. Recovering James would remain the family’s obsession. They were not going to let anything—including bulldozers aimed at clearing the place up sooner rather than later—get in their way.

 

By the end of Wednesday, the calls started coming in to Kevin McCabe and his bosses at Customs, and to their cohorts at the Coast Guard. When were the ports going to reopen? Someone from one of the New England congressional delegations said that his state was about to run out of oil; Logan Airport in Boston was in danger of having no fuel for its planes when the airport reopened; a major retailer needed its furniture; factories up and down the East Coast that used modern just-in-time inventory controls to save money were about to run out of time; and produce shippers were terrified that their lemons and limes from places like Ecuador would start to rot. The downside of a global economy was that it really was a global economy.

At the Northern Border, the order by McCabe colleague Mary Delaquis in North Dakota to inspect everything had stretched the usual ten-to thirty-minute wait to three to five hours. That was nothing compared to what was going on east of Delaquis at the Northern Border in Detroit.

The Ambassador Bridge from Windsor, Ontario, to Detroit was responsible for more foreign trade, in dollar value, per year than the total shipped from all of Japan to the United States. By Wednesday evening the complaints about delay of that merchandise had come straight into the White House, where economy czar Larry Lindsey’s office received calls from representatives of the big three auto companies. The bridge hadn’t been closed the way McCabe’s port in New Jersey had. But just the step up to Level One alert, which meant more careful inspections of more trucks, had caused a thirteen-hour wait on the Canadian side. When Lindsey had received the first complaint, he called Customs, which soon called his office back to report that Lindsey’s information was all wrong: There were no delays. It turned out that this was because Canadian police, concerned about pollution and traffic jams in the city of Windsor, had held the line back outside the city, where the Customs people couldn’t even see it. “I guess that’s what they call the fog of war,” Lindsey later joked.

The whole problem was one of the toughest of the September 12 era. “Nothing sits in storage anymore,” McCabe liked to say. “It moves. The container is the new warehouse.” This meant that more careful inspections weren’t just a matter of finding the money and manpower to do the job. As McCabe put it, “Inspecting every container, even if you could, would tie up what comes through here for five days, maybe ten. That would strangle the economy.”

In Detroit, even thirteen hours had done that. Several assembly lines on the U.S. side would shut down on Thursday because parts coming from Canada had been delayed on the bridge.

But the converse was also true, and more horrific. The day before, the hijackers had killed several thousand people and shut down the airlines for what would become two or three days. But had a bomb gone off in a container in McCabe’s port, or on the Detroit bridge, it could easily have been a nuclear or bioterror device, killing many more. And beyond the damage to life and property, had shipping commerce been shut down as aviation had until someone could provide plausible assurance that all, or most, or even just a large fraction of containers were being inspected, the economic fallout in the United States and around the world would dwarf the hundred billion dollars of economic damage caused by the September 11 attacks.

Somehow, his port was going to have to reopen the next day, McCabe knew. Other than that, he was sure of nothing.

 

Chuck Schumer had spent Wednesday morning deploying his staff to make two kinds of phone calls. Some canvassed city and state agencies, including his wife’s New York City Transportation Department, to get a fix on what kind of aid New York needed to rebuild. Others canvassed various House and Senate staffers to see what might be available and what the other members of Congress were thinking. Schumer’s goal was to get every possible type of aid from whatever pot possible as soon as possible. Because Schumer had requested a meeting with him when they had spoken on Tuesday soon after the attacks, the President had asked Schumer and Hillary Clinton, New York’s junior senator, to meet with him the next day. The senior senator from New York was determined to be prepared, to make this more than a meeting where the President consoled the New Yorkers. In fact, he wanted to spring a specific budget request on the President.

Schumer was fixated on one notion that would govern everything he did in the days ahead. He wanted to get as much as possible for New York now—right now—rather than wait. He had two fears. One was that if he waited, attention to the tragedy might fade. The other was that there was likely to be another attack someplace else that would dilute the priority given to New York.

It seems a selfish perspective at a time of national crisis. But much of what follows demonstrates that the American system is built on people and, in this case, their representatives, being free to assert their self-interest, or, as they would rightly say, fulfill their responsibilities. McCabe of Customs will be planning to inspect shipments more thoroughly than the shippers who seek faster service want him to; the families of the victims will be contending with those who want to clear the Ground Zero site quickly so it can be rebuilt; law enforcement people will want to issue strong, candid warnings against the next possible attack, while business leaders will fear spooking the economy; and even special interest groups that most citizens might barely be aware of, such as lobbyists representing the country’s universities, will seem to act myopically or selfishly as they try to discourage new restrictions on foreign student visas. It would all make for a harrowing test of a system in which all the players in this American symphony square off in a robust, often messy clash of ideas and special interests that is supposed to produce the public interest.

In any event, Schumer was all business that day—until the afternoon. That’s when he boarded a plane from Washington to New York, flown by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Schumer had made the flight hundreds of times since being elected, to the House as a twenty-nine-year-old in 1980 and then to the Senate in 2000. Always, he took at least a moment as he approached the city, first to look down at the vast beach in the Rockaway section of Queens, which had been part of his mostly Brooklyn congressional district, then over to Prospect Park in Brooklyn, where his family’s apartment was, and finally, up to the skyline of lower Manhattan. Only now, when he looked at that skyline, there was a hole. And he started to sob.

* Pentagon emergency planners had decided to stage the drill because the Pentagon is so close to Reagan National Airport.







Thursday, September 13, 2001


At 10:00 A.M. on Thursday, September 13, Sal Iacono, accompanied by one of his sons, who was on the verge of getting an accounting degree, tried to get back to his shoe repair shop. The police stopped him at a barricade just across lower Broadway near Fulton Street. Sal the Sole Man could see beyond the wrecked cars and fire trucks to his store from across the street, and it didn’t look good. The door that he had taken pains to lock was smashed, as were the windows. Inside, it looked like the police and firemen were using it as a rest station. He couldn’t tell if the cash register or any of his inventory of polishes, umbrellas, and sole insets and heels was there, but he feared the worst.

The police at the barricade weren’t the neighborhood cops, a few of whom were loyal customers. Some were even National Guardsmen. None knew him. They just knew they had orders. No one went to the Trade Center side of Broadway. Sal turned and left, tears in his eyes. In his head, he tried to add up what the damage might be. He couldn’t even begin to make a guess.

 

In Washington, Mitchell Daniels, Jr., the Director of the White House Office of Management and Budget, had been trying a similar numbers exercise, though on a different scale and with more success. Since the evening of the 11th (in a process that began with a round of phone calls while the President was addressing the nation), Daniels and his staff—who controlled the budgets that the executive branch sent to Congress for approval, and did so in ways that rarely left any of those executive departments satisfied—had been trying to get a handle on what September 11 was going to cost. That total would quickly have to become a request for the budget year ending in September of 2002. That budget, the first of the Bush administration, had, in fact, already been calculated and mostly locked up, so this would be what was called a supplemental request, an add-on to what had already been asked for and approved by Congress. Daniels, a wiry, former drug company executive and blunt Republican stalwart from Indiana, treasured the hard-nosed, buttoned-down down approach he had brought to putting together this year’s budget. Now, the picture looked ugly. Daniels’s job was to manage the ugliness.

After canvassing the Defense Department to get them to guess at expenditures between now and next September on a war they hadn’t even begun to plan, and doing the same at places like the Transportation Department (where new measures would have to be taken to protect air travel and add to what the Coast Guard did to protect the shores) and Justice (where the FBI would obviously be beefed up), Daniels had come up with a back-of-the-envelope guess of about $20 billion needed immediately, with more likely to come in another supplemental request as things developed. By late Wednesday, Daniels’s estimate was being talked about on Capitol Hill.

When Schumer’s and Clinton’s staffs began hearing that number on Wednesday afternoon, they were horrified to find out that the draft legislation authorizing it included not a word about aid to New York. The two senators were in New York at the emergency command center, when both got a call from their staffs alerting them to the problem.

By Thursday morning, Schumer and his staff had begun to think symmetry. If the country needed $20 billion, well then so, too, did New York. Its economy had been crushed. Its transportation system—subway tunnels and stations, bus routes, streets—in lower Manhattan had been pulverized. Its police and fire departments would be swamped with death benefit payments, plus overtime for those who had survived. And New York had just seen more office space demolished than could be found in most mid-sized American cities. Schumer and Clinton’s meeting with the President was scheduled for the afternoon, but the first order of business was getting the support for the request from Senate Majority Leader Tom Daschle and from Robert Byrd, the longtime Democratic senator from West Virginia and the chairman of the all-powerful Appropriations Committee. Schumer talked to Daschle, while Clinton agreed to call Byrd. After she had cajoled his support, Schumer insisted that they should go for it at the White House—seize the moment now and try to get the President on the record before his staff had a chance to build up any opposition to it.

It was an audacious, even outrageous reach. Working with figures from a one-page fax from the mayor’s office, Schumer’s staff hadn’t totaled up more than $5 or $7 billion in clearly defined needs apart from the cost of rebuilding the Trade Center itself, which was Silverstein’s and his insurer’s problem. But Schumer told them to include that and anything else they needed to, just so that he could say he’d seen a $20 billion estimate; he was sure that ultimately the numbers would stretch that high, anyway. Clinton’s staff hadn’t gotten even that far with their math. Clinton told her staff she was more pessimistic than Schumer because she didn’t think Bush liked New York.

As they walked into the Oval Office, Clinton told Schumer he should do the asking, which had been his intention all along.

Schumer and Clinton, along with the two senators from Virginia (Republicans John Warner and George Allen), which was also considered a victim of the terrorists because of the Pentagon attacks (and perhaps because the White House staff wanted some other Republicans in the room), sat down with Bush. They commiserated for a while. Schumer was emotional, telling the President about how he’d been unable to find his daughter, who went to high school near the Trade Center, for nearly four hours, and that his local firehouse in Brooklyn had lost eleven men. Clinton talked about the devastation she and Schumer had seen on their visit to Ground Zero the day before. Then Schumer turned to Bush and said he’d heard that the nation needed $20 billion to recover. “Well, Mr. President, New York needs twenty billion, too,” he said, ticking off some key expense items, such as rebuilding the subways.

Bush hesitated. Schumer recalls that he could “literally see the President thinking…. He’s clearly figuring that New York had not gone for him [in the election], but he needs to bring the country together.”

“New York needs twenty billion?” Bush repeated. By now there were tears in Schumer’s eyes. “You got it,” the President declared. Schumer and the President stood up. Schumer went to hug Bush, then realized he was in the Oval Office with the President, so he simply grasped his shoulders. “There were tears in my eyes and tears in his eyes,” Schumer remembers.

Moments later, Schumer and Clinton were in the Cabinet Room with the New York congressional delegation and the news cameras, praising the President for his promise of $20 billion. They wanted to be sure to lock him in.

But even in America $20 billion doesn’t come that easily. By that night, Schumer’s staff was hearing that the House Appropriations Committee, with the agreement if not the urging of Daniels of the White House budget office, was making changes in the supplemental appropriation. Suddenly, that $20 billion was earmarked vaguely for “recovery expenses,” and not for New York (and in small part, Virginia). It was at moments like this—when he felt he was being shortchanged and fooled with—that Schumer was at his best, and worst. He immediately got on the phone with White House Chief of Staff Andrew Card and screamed that with the President scheduled to visit Ground Zero the next day he did not want to have to report to New Yorkers that Bush had taken less than twenty-four hours to go back on his promise. The $20 billion was quickly re-earmarked. From that day on, Schumer became a believer in Bush, or at least in his honor and his ability to appreciate what had happened in New York. In Schumer’s eyes, the President then, and in subsequent episodes of staff or congressional opposition, held fast to his promise.

 

In New York, Schumer’s wife, Iris Weinshall, faced a more basic money crunch. Late Thursday morning one of her aides told her that there was a problem with ATM machines in the city, a comment whose first impact was that Weinshall realized that she was out of cash and needed to go get some. You might have trouble, the aide said. It seemed that because traffic was still so bad coming into Manhattan, and, because most of the bridges and tunnels coming in had been closed Tuesday and parts of Wednesday, the armored trucks that the banks used to fill ATMs all over Manhattan had not been deployed. So Weinshall and other city officials now had to arrange with the Federal Reserve and the banks for convoys full of cash to make their way around town, filling ATM machines. What everyone had begun to fear could become a twenty-first-century money panic had been averted.

Meantime, in New Jersey, Chubb Insurance CEO O’Hare did his part to calm parallel fears. He sent a memo to all of Chubb’s agents and brokers, saying, “You may have read media reports speculating about whether insurers will try to avoid paying claims by invoking act-of-war exclusions. You know us; we have already begun paying claims.” He soon got a slew of letters and e-mails back, thanking him, some even praising his patriotism.

 

O’Hare’s unilateral action, quickly followed by his competitors, to erase doubts about insurers paying what would ultimately become approximately $50 billion in claims related to the attacks, was one of the few fault lines related to the economy that was not already being closely monitored and managed at the White House. There were now so many domestic issues related to the crisis crowding the agenda of the constantly meeting National Security Council that on Thursday, Joshua Bolten, a deputy chief of staff, was made the chair of a rump Domestic Consequences Principals Committee, which would include roughly a dozen senior staffers and key cabinet members.

The items Bolten listed for the group’s first meeting the next morning were dominated by the same challenge facing Cox, who still hadn’t left his Memphis airport. How could they get the airline industry back to some semblance of normalcy? These included borrowing law enforcement officers from a multitude of federal agencies (such as Treasury’s Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms and INS’s Border Patrol) to staff the air marshal positions that Transportation Secretary Mineta said he needed before he’d let planes fly again. They also had to figure out how to train them instantly in how to handle their guns on airplanes. The air marshals, started amid fanfare in the 1970s to deter hijackings, had been allowed secretly to dwindle to a grand total of thirty-two by September 11. Mineta wanted 600 immediately.

There was also the issue of how to evaluate what was now becoming the airlines’ increasingly panicky call for a federal bailout of some kind. Bolten, a forty-seven-year-old Princeton and Stanford Law graduate who had worked as an investment banker at Goldman Sachs, was no economic neophyte. Yet along with economic policy czar Lindsey and others at the White House, he was stunned to learn that the airlines were claiming that their businesses were so precarious that a few days’ disruption and the prospect of weeks of fear-induced reduced ridership could wipe them all out. Equally surprising was the news that planes not flying for just a few days, combined with the prospect of longer-term disruption if bankruptcies really happened, could have a massive ripple effect on the entire American economy. The aviation industry, they were told, not just by the industry itself but by their own staffers and Mineta, was a unique linchpin for much of the rest of the economy.

Beyond that, Bolten’s agenda for the next morning included issues he and the group were already tackling, such as figuring out how to ease the Customs clampdown. Somehow, the fuel barges that were being kept out of McCabe’s port in New Jersey had to be allowed to unload before New England ran out of oil and gas. Somehow, General Motors had to be able to get its parts into Detroit over the bridge from Canada.

Another big worry was making sure the stock markets stayed on track to open on Monday, and that once they opened a systems failure of some kind wouldn’t shut them down again, something that everyone believed would be worse for the economy’s nervous system than the markets not opening at all. Lindsey, a free market fanatic, went home that night and told his wife he now understood firsthand how the Kremlin’s centralized economic planning had failed so miserably; one of his aides, he told her, had had to spend the day trying to expedite the shipment by air (even though aviation was still shut down) of a temporary generator that needed to be installed near one of the brokerage houses on Wall Street, while simultaneously negotiating to get the generator a temporary waiver of some kind of permit related to air pollution concerns.
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Whatever else could be said about whether the ACLU was relevant in the September 12 era, there was no disputing that the group and its staff felt the effects of the terror attacks as much as anyone else. On Thursday, Romero was still stranded in Washington. And had he been able to get back to New York, he could not have gone to work because the office tower about ten blocks from the Trade Center that housed his national headquarters was still closed. Meanwhile, the ACLU Washington office, where he was now encamped, was so close to the Capitol that people there were constantly jolted by the sirens that screeched by responding to bomb scares and other threats.

The distractions were a kind of relief from the frustrating inaction inside. Romero, who had now been on the job at the ACLU for all of ten days, was trying to rein in his new staff. He insisted that no one respond to calls from the media asking for general comment on hypothetical restrictions on civil liberties that were already being talked about. Yes, the prosecutors had an “insatiable appetite” for more power, as Romero’s chairman, law professor Nadine Strossen, liked to put it. But, Romero told the staff, “We have to wait till they propose something specific before we comment. We can’t be generally critical. When they propose something specific then we’ll hit them. Until then, we say nothing.”

 

At mid-morning on Thursday, the man most likely to offer those specifics left the operations center at the FBI and returned to his desk across Pennsylvania Avenue at the Justice Department. It was the first time that John Ashcroft had been there since the attacks. The first thing he did was check in with Viet Dinh, his thirty-three-year-old assistant attorney general in charge of the Office of Legal Policy. On Tuesday, Ashcroft had asked Dinh, a Vietnamese refugee and Harvard Law graduate who was considered a conservative legal superstar, to head a group that would put together an aggressive set of legislative changes that Ashcroft could quickly propose to Congress as necessary to fight the war on terrorism and, in particular, to change the focus from prosecuting crime to preventing it. Dinh told Ashcroft that the package would be ready to be presented to him at a meeting Friday night.

For Dinh and the Justice Department staff, Ashcroft’s assignment was a labor of love. As the ACLU staffers had suspected when they huddled just after the planes hit, prosecutors always have a list of changes in the law that they’d like to see that would help them catch the bad guys—changes, such as making it easier to get wiretaps or search warrants, that for the ACLU people are a list of horribles. In fact, the key deputy that Dinh asked to dig in on this project was David Carp, a veteran Justice Department lawyer who had worked on the same list after the Oklahoma City bombing and had seen little of it enacted into an anti-terrorism law passed then. Now he had another chance.

But there was one problem: Carp was an Orthodox Jew and Friday evening was the beginning of the Jewish Sabbath. Working that night would normally be unthinkable for Carp. But this was just days after September 11, and the career prosecutor was being asked to present his wish list to the Attorney General. “If I work it out with my wife, can I stay?” he asked Dinh. “Sure, but don’t get me in trouble with God,” his boss replied.

Ashcroft was in his office for maybe an hour when an alarm sounded forcing the evacuation of the building. The Department of Justice hadn’t been bombed or otherwise attacked; a construction worker involved in a renovation project had jiggled something in one of the walls that tripped the alarm. Nonetheless, Ashcroft went back to the FBI, where he’d remain for three or four weeks running the war at home.

Or so he thought.

Unbeknownst to Ashcroft, Vice President Cheney and two of his top aides—counselor Mary Matalin and chief of staff Lewis “Scooter” Libby—were already talking about creating a job for someone to run the home front war right from the White House.

Although the job, called Director of Homeland Security, would be new, the idea wasn’t. In January of 2001, a presidential commission headed by former senators Gary Hart and Warren Rudman predicted that “Americans will likely die on American soil, possibly in large numbers” from terrorist attacks. Arguing that “the security of the American homeland from the threats of the new century should be the primary national security mission of the United States,” the commission, whose report and dire predictions had in retrospect not been given nearly the headlines they deserved, proposed that the many government agencies that had something to do with protecting the homeland—such as Customs, INS, and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)—be reorganized into a new department, with its secretary added to the President’s cabinet.

The Hart-Rudman commission had issued interim reports in September of 1999 and April of 2000. But the Clinton administration’s reaction to rejiggering the government so drastically was lukewarm. Although terrorism became an increasingly high agenda item for Clinton National Security Advisor Samuel Berger toward the end of the Clinton presidency, neither he nor Clinton thought it was feasible to reorganize all those government agencies. It was something Congress was unlikely to allow, because representatives and senators wouldn’t want to untangle all the oversight or appropriations committee assignments that give them sway over those departments.

In May of 2001, President Bush had asked Cheney to begin a study of how the new administration should deal with the terrorist alarm sounded by the Hart-Rudman report and by two other high-level commissions. At the beginning of the summer, Cheney chief of staff Libby had recruited Steven Abbot, a recently retired admiral with extensive national security experience, to come to the White House after Labor Day and run the Cheney terror threat study. Abbot, along with another Cheney aide—Carol Kuntz, who had worked for Cheney in the Pentagon—spent the summer reviewing the work of the Hart-Rudman commission, as well as that of the two other commissions and several scholarly works in the field. Abbot reported for work on September 10. On the morning of September 11, he was waiting outside Libby’s office for their first meeting when the first plane hit.

By Thursday, Abbot, Kuntz, and Libby had concluded that the first thing the Bush administration should do would be not to reorganize all those agencies, but to hire a heavyweight to come work in the White House and coordinate them, much the way Condoleezza Rice, the National Security Advisor, coordinated the various agencies involved in foreign and defense policy. They could never get all the agencies with some role in domestic security into one department, they reasoned, because so many also did so many other, unrelated jobs. (FEMA, for example, administrates flood insurance in addition to coordinating the federal response to disasters.) The goal should be to coordinate whatever they did related to homeland security, rather than spend a lot of time and money dislodging them from their current departments.

To be sure, that coordinating would be a lot harder than it sounded. Federal agencies are notoriously turf-conscious. Besides, it wasn’t only the federal government that was involved in protecting the homeland. There were thousands of state and local police, fire, and other departments that had equally important and often more immediate roles. For example, even as Cheney’s people pondered their Washington solution on Thursday, the Oregon Office of Public Health was making urgent phone calls around the state to everyone in the medical field licensed to have large sources of radioactive materials for various procedures (such as radiation therapy for cancer treatment) to verify that the material was being stored and secured properly; and the North Miami Beach police chief was dispatching special patrols to the area’s utility and water supply facilities.

By Friday Libby and Matalin would already be discussing ideas with Cheney about who the coordinator should be. The three would quickly zero in on one name: Tom Ridge, the Republican governor of Pennsylvania. Ridge was a good friend of the President’s both from their days as fellow governors and because he had worked with Bush in 1988, when Ridge played a lead role in Pennsylvania promoting the first President Bush’s campaign. He reportedly had been a contender for the vice presidential spot on the Bush 2000 ticket, although his pro-choice abortion views had supposedly eliminated him from final consideration. As an ex-Marine with a bronze star, Ridge had passable national security credentials, and as a former congressman, he knew Washington and Capitol Hill. Besides, Ridge—a big, beefy guy—looked the part. Over the weekend Cheney planned to bounce the idea off of White House Chief of Staff Andrew Card and the President.

 

At Ground Zero, Brian Lyons called the boss at his construction management firm on Thursday morning and told him that he needed to take some vacation days from his job (supervising construction for an investment bank’s renovation) so that he could continue to look for his fireman brother. Then he went back to worrying about keeping the bulldozers moving, hoping that as they cleared away the beams, the dust, and whatever stray pieces of anything else that was left he might see some sign of Michael Lyons. Later that morning, he noticed that the bulldozers were loading the debris onto a truck. When he inquired about where it was going, he was told something about Fresh Kills.

Fresh Kills? The name, he found out, was not intended to have any kind of sick double meaning. Rather it was the site of a garbage landfill in Staten Island. Beginning the night before, trucks and boats had begun loading up with debris to be driven (or in the case of the barges, shipped from the West Side docks past the Statue of Liberty and through New York Harbor) to what until recently had been New York’s major garbage dump. Fresh Kills had now been reopened. And a group of FBI agents and New York City police were on hand waiting to receive the “evidence” from this “crime scene.”

Deputy Police Inspector James Luongo had arrived to take charge of the effort that morning. As he surveyed the 175 acres, some of it still bubbling with leaks from the methane gas produced by the tons of garbage underneath, he had no idea how he was going to handle all the wreckage that was fast arriving in a place so desolate, so spooky that another cop, who was a Vietnam veteran, likened it to a scene out of Apocalypse Now. Luongo needed structures for dressing rooms, refreshment centers, and cleanup areas for what he was told would be a crew of hundreds, working for what he assumed would be a year, sifting through it all. Who was going to build all that? Who was going to organize the crews? What about protective equipment? Food? Water? Electricity?

Brian Lyons had a different concern: Were the remains of his brother and everyone else, now being shunted off to a garbage dump, to be lost forever?







Saturday, September 15, 2001


Iris Weinshall finally got a decent night’s sleep on Friday. When she awoke Saturday morning at about 8:30, she left her husband, Senator Charles Schumer, and walked into the kitchen of the apartment they shared with their two daughters to pour herself a cup of coffee. She’d been up late the night before trying to rig up a ferry service to take people from Brooklyn into lower Manhattan, which would alleviate some of the traffic created by all the recovery efforts going on downtown and help replace the subway services knocked out at the Trade Center. She felt good about the progress she was making; it would normally take years for the city’s transportation commissioner to get something like this done. If she kept at it today, she was sure she’d have it finished by Monday.

As she walked from the kitchen to sit down in the den of the airy, informal apartment, Weinshall’s sense of satisfaction evaporated. She looked out the window off the left of the couch that had always been the family’s favorite because they could sit there and look across at the skyline of lower Manhattan. The towers were missing, and in their place was the lingering smoke. Weinshall started to cry. Months later, she and her daughters still wouldn’t look out that window.

 

Ed Woollen was not the kind of person one would expect to spend a weekend at home reading. The Navy veteran was a devoted outdoorsman who loved sailing, skiing, hiking, and swimming. Good-looking, clean-cut, and clear-eyed, with one of those too-firm handshakes, he looked like a retired football star who now made a living giving motivational speeches between workouts in the gym. That is, until you talked to him and you heard the acronym-filled vocabulary of the big-league aerospace business.

Woollen spent most of Saturday and Sunday hitting the books. The Raytheon vice president paged his way into a world that had, until Tuesday, been the exclusive preserve of the policy wonks and the mostly ignored members of those commissions that since the late 1990s had sounded the alarm about the terrorist threat to America. There was a method to his curiosity. Indeed, at Raytheon, the business development teams like the one Woollen had now been told to quarterback weren’t called “capture groups” for nothing. Their job was to go out and trap new business. And so, as Woollen plowed through the twenty or so pounds of reports (he mainly used the more comprehensive Hart-Rudman volumes as his blueprint, once he discovered a surprising coherence and consistency among all three), he was trying to connect the dots between the threats and solutions that they had identified and the products and services Raytheon provided, or could provide if the company went ahead with the Project Yankee homeland security ramp-up. By Sunday evening he had sketched out three broad areas that seemed highly promising.

First, it was clear that controlling the borders would now be a huge issue. That meant building databases of who was entering and leaving the United States, something Woollen knew Raytheon was good at.

Second, there was the overall challenge of providing for the physical security of facilities and events, including not just airports and airplanes but also power plants, stadiums, and ports. Raytheon already did that at military bases around the world.

Third, and most intriguing to Woollen, was the challenge of providing on-the-ground support to local public safety officials—the police, firefighters, and emergency service workers in every community, known as first responders. Raytheon obviously was heavily into equipping soldiers for the battlefield, but now Woollen saw a whole new opportunity—provided that Raytheon could figure out how to reach a new constituency of local police and fire chiefs, mayors, county commissioners, and local health officials. The front-line troops at home, which is now where the war was, Woollen wrote in a note to himself, are local people, not federal. Which meant, he realized, that Raytheon now had to go after a different customer base. “We have to pay attention to Chief Somebody, not General Somebody,” he concluded.

 

While Woollen mulled the shifts Raytheon would have to make to get into those new markets, the people from the United Way and New York Community Trust running the new September 11th Fund were already benefiting from a shift in resources of a different sort. IBM, which was already the United Way’s largest corporate contributor, had volunteered two days before to help the new fund set up a website that could receive any and all inquiries and contributions. And now on Saturday morning the new site—which was actually a refabricated version of the site that IBM had built for the recently completed U.S. Open tennis tournament—was working perfectly. Thirty-five programmers from IBM had worked nearly three days straight to get the job done. IBM’s contribution, which would ultimately be worth millions, was only one example of the corporate generosity, backed by employee sweat, which enabled a variety of stunningly quick responses to the events of Tuesday. The September 11th Fund—which, thanks to having its name on contact numbers flashed repeatedly across television screens, had by Saturday collected $100 million in donations—was by now the beneficiary of donated services from Microsoft (database management), Citibank (check processing), and a host of other companies.

Perhaps most significant, McKinsey & Co., a blue-chip management consulting firm, had assigned a team to help the fund figure out how to organize and target its relief efforts. Consultants of the McKinsey breed were not universally known for their speed or even the actual, or at least tangible, value of their services, but in this case the work they began this weekend would end up being crucial to the fund zeroing in on the right goals and achieving them.

Another September 11th Fund volunteer by Saturday was actor George Clooney. Clooney was among many in Hollywood who, as he put it, “just wanted to do something…. We were out here and we felt frustrated that we couldn’t help.” So on Friday, when Clooney got a call from Dreamworks co-founder and native New Yorker Jeffrey Katzenberg, telling him that a group of top Hollywood people was organizing a telethon, he agreed not only to appear but offered to help Katzenberg recruit other stars. On Friday, Katzenberg had met a challenge from the networks by personally recruiting ten of the ten superstars they’d listed as being such a dream team that they’d have to agree to do the show if he could get them. Now, Clooney was working the phones, and similarly getting no refusals. He was also starting to focus on the fact that Katzenberg had said they wanted to broadcast less than a week from now—on Friday, September 21. It seemed impossible, Clooney thought. No one had worked out what the show would be, let alone written anything for it, let alone found a studio or built a set. But if that was the plan, and if the networks had all volunteered to contribute their airtime in unison on that night, then they should go for it. His only constraint in recruiting, he had been told, was that with all four networks supporting and broadcasting the show commercial-free, he should include at least two stars from each network’s prime-time shows. From the responses he had already gotten, he knew that would be no problem.

As for where the money would go, an official with one of the networks who had connections to the Red Cross had called that organization earlier in the week and asked whether, if the telethon passed the donations on to the Red Cross, the organization would guarantee that only victims of the September 11 tragedy would receive the proceeds. But the Red Cross person who got the call—a board member not in sync with, or even at that point aware of, Healy’s intention to segregate the money—refused. The United Way got the next call, and its September 11th Fund was designated to receive and dispense the money.

Clooney had himself taken pains to get assurances that the money would only go for victims and not, as he feared, “be swallowed up in some bureaucracy.” So he figured that everything seemed on track for the big show. Months later, he’d call himself an idiot for thinking it was all going to be that simple.

 

By Saturday morning, the planes were up at Larry Cox’s airport. In fact, by Thursday afternoon his had been among the first airports certified by the FAA as complying with all the new security arrangements, and that afternoon many of his Federal Express flights had taken off. FedEx had not been subject to nearly as many new FAA security restrictions as the passenger airlines, and therefore had an easier time getting ready to resume operations. FedEx was such an unusually big part of the traffic in Memphis—its planes accounted for 40 percent of the takeoffs and landings—that by Friday things seemed almost normal on the runways.

The passenger terminals were a different story. Saturday was the first full day of restored passenger operations at Cox’s airport, but business was awful. Anticipating a new fear of flying, combined with an economic swoon stemming from the shock of September 11, the airlines—including Northwest, which has a key hub in Memphis and is by far the dominant carrier there—had grounded about a third of its flights indefinitely in order to bunch the reduced passenger flow onto fewer flights. And today most of the 60 percent left flying were nearly empty. The tally was almost unbelievable: For the whole day of Saturday, September 15, only 7,574 people flew in and out of Memphis. On the same Saturday one year before, 17,175 had. That was a 56 percent drop.

Cox knew those numbers were only going to get worse. If you deducted all the people who flew on Saturday only because they had been stranded en route on September 11, he told his staff, there would have been almost nobody flying. Sure enough, by Monday passenger traffic would be down 64 percent from the same Monday a year before. Cox had lost nearly two thirds of his passengers.

Traffic and passenger load were an airport manager’s scorecard, the equivalent of a storekeeper’s daily tally of his cash register. Airports like Cox’s had basically two sources of revenue—one from the airlines, the other from passengers. The airlines paid rental fees for the gates they used and landing fees for every time they dropped down onto one of Cox’s runways. Passengers paid Cox indirectly when they bought a newspaper or magazine at a newsstand, purchased some Elvis memorabilia in the concourse’s Graceland gift shop, or rented a car at the airport: The newsstand owner paid the airport roughly 5 percent of his sales, Graceland about 18 percent, and the rent-a-car companies about 20 percent.

Therefore, a decline in flights meant a drop in landing fees, while the dropoff in passengers meant that Cox’s income from all those stores and rental agencies would fall off the cliff.

Memphis International Airport had been growing in flights and passengers—and revenue—every year since the economic downturn of the early 1990s. Suddenly, that was all in jeopardy. And it wasn’t just COX who was bound to feel the pain. Indeed, economically he and the Memphis–Shelby County Airport Authority, which owned the airport, were actually protected by the way the airport was set up financially. As with most airports, except those in some of the largest cities, Memphis operated on a nonprofit basis. Every year its revenues had to be geared to equal expenses. And the only revenues that could be controlled were the landing and gate fees paid by the air carriers; Cox, after all, couldn’t make people buy gifts at the Graceland store or rent cars. So in a year when those retail revenues are down, the fees paid by the airlines will be adjusted upward in the following year to make up for the gap. If those other fees exceed the expenses, the surplus is applied in the next year so that the fees paid by the air carriers are lowered. In other words, the air carriers had all the risk. To keep control of all that, the airport’s fee-setting board consisted of the airlines that used the facility. They voted on how to adjust the fees upward or downward, or on whether to force Cox somehow to cut expenses. The board votes were weighted on the basis of which of the air carriers were the heaviest users, which meant Northwest and FedEx controlled the process in Memphis. So, if revenues fell and they refused to raise these fees, Cox and the county airport authority board of commissioners who oversaw him would have to curtail operations at the airport, or even shut it down if they could not find other ways to cut costs.

In the seventeen years Cox had been running the airport, nothing that dire had ever happened, and it wasn’t likely to now. What was more likely was that the air carriers would agree to pay higher fees—meaning that they faced a double whammy: Because business was down (fewer flights, fewer passengers) not only in Memphis but across the country, they would actually have to pay more to use the country’s airports.

But Cox also knew that he’d have to figure out how to cut some of his expenses, even as he began the process of asking the air carriers to pay more. He was proud that he ran things efficiently enough and had attracted enough flights and retailers that his landing fees—which were calculated by the weight of each plane and were now about $200 for a Boeing 727 to land—were the same or lower than most airports. (La Guardia’s were about three times higher.) This encouraged more airlines to use Memphis, or at least didn’t deter them. Those fees would now have to be raised. The question was how much.

Yet on Saturday morning that was a far-off problem compared to what Larry Cox faced on the sidewalks outside his terminal. Although passenger traffic was a fraction of what he could usually expect for a Saturday, the lines waiting to get through security were running out of the terminal and a hundred yards or more onto the sidewalk. The problem was that the screeners up ahead at the walk-through metal detectors and at the X-ray devices that checked for weapons in carry-on baggage were working in slow motion, struggling to adjust to the new set of rules and protocols issued by the FAA—the rules that Transportation Secretary Mineta had laid out to the airline executives in that late-night conference call. Knives were no longer allowed. Nor were nail clippers. And every fourth or fifth passenger was to be singled out, usually at random, for a personal body and baggage hand search. Worse, each person was checked against the watch lists issued by the FAA, lists that Cox discovered were changing and being added to by the hour as the FAA faxed new names to the airlines. It was the worst of both worlds: fewer passengers and longer waits. The FAA was closing the barn door after the horse had escaped, and with a vengeance, Cox thought.

At the same time he was also fuming over his lost parking spaces, the ones within 300 feet of the terminal that one of the first FAA faxes had ordered him to block. Cox hated losing those 550 spots not only because of the revenue they yielded, but also because customer service was his obsession, and having that many spaces so close to the terminal was one of his airport’s most customer-friendly features. For Cox, this was another classic example of stupidity from the cover-your-ass Washington bureaucrats, people who attacked whatever problem was in the public consciousness today because it had just happened, but ignored whatever the real, next threat might be. There was no logic or sense of proportion. The new rule was aimed at preventing a bomb from being left in a parked car and destroying the terminal building and the people in it. But what was so special about airport terminals? What about cars that could be parked, for example, not just within 300 feet of a shopping mall, but in the basement of the shopping mall itself? What about parking spaces within 300 feet of a train station? Or a stadium?

It was only four days after September 11 but already Cox had zeroed in on a challenge that would mark the September 12 era: achieving balance and logic in dealing with the various threats of this new age—or rational “risk management,” as the policy people called it.

 

While Cox sweated his sudden budget and customer service problems, the chief financial officers of the nation’s leading airlines convened that Saturday morning on a conference call to agonize over the bigger picture. Their CEOs had already started telling Washington that they needed help, lots of it and fast. The question for today was how much. Led by the financial people from American and Delta airlines, they came up with a total of about $24 billion that they would need in some combination of cash or loans—some of it to make up for what they’d lost by not being able to fly at all from Tuesday morning through Friday, and the rest to deal with what they foresaw was about to be a steep dropoff in air travel for at least the next six months.

Later that morning, their CEOs, along with the Washington lobbyists employed by each airline, had another conference call, put together with the help of the staff of the Air Transport Association, the Washington-based trade association that lobbies for all the airlines jointly. They decided that they had to get to Washington fast—Monday morning—so they could start making the rounds on Capitol Hill with whatever numbers the financial people could put together.

 

As the airline executives talked retrenchment and bailouts, InVision’s CEO was plotting expansion. By Friday, Sergio Magistri had seen enough stories in the newspapers and on television about the airlines’ lax security. True, the terrorists had not used a bomb in a suitcase, but the whole issue of airliner safety, including suitcase bombs, was now being talked about. He felt sure the age of 100 percent baggage screening that he’d been waiting for since the Lockerbie crash of 1988 was finally coming. So he told his chief operating officer and budget people to begin planning the necessary hiring and purchases from suppliers that would ramp the company up to sell $80 million worth of products per year. This was about double the company’s current capacity—capacity that it was not even reaching at September 10 sales levels. Yet because his top-of-the-line machine sold for about $1 million, and thousands would be needed should the government decide to inspect every suitcase, Magistri was sure he was being conservative.

Then again, he’d been just as sure after the explosion of TWA Flight 800 over Long Island in 1996, and on September 10 he had still been digging out of the hole that optimism had gotten him into.

What especially cheered Magistri this time, though, was a report he’d gotten late Friday night from Patrick McCann, his Washington lobbyist. McCann, a former congressional budget staffer whose boutique practice focused on aviation issues, was already making the rounds of congressional staffers and FAA people talking up baggage screening. The head of the Air Transport Association had declared that afternoon that her airline members wanted to be completely out of the business of aviation security. The government should handle it, ATA president Carol Hallet had said. What was so welcome about this was that from the mid-1970s, when the government first mandated metal detector screening of passengers in order to prevent gun-wielding hijackers from taking planes to Cuba, the system in place was that the government told the airlines what to do, who in turn hired private security companies to do the work. In practice this meant, as with all FAA regulatory work, that the FAA would negotiate with the airlines, with the airlines pushing back on anything that cost them money or their passengers time. Although no one now will admit it in so many words, according to records in the archives of the FAA, that in fact is what had resulted in the rule that razors or knives with blades of four and a half inches or less be allowed in carry-on luggage. The airlines feared that a complete ban on knives or razors would require them to hire more screeners, while further inconveniencing and delaying passengers.

Magistri knew only too well that another hassle and expense the airlines had feared was screening of suitcases that were checked by passengers into the plane’s cargo bays, which was the business he was in. Although the government was ready to buy the expensive machines and even assume some of the maintenance costs, the airlines would have had to hire people to operate the machines, and the machines would add another potential wait to the check-in and boarding process. So despite the recommendation by a commission headed by Vice President Gore after the 1996 Flight 800 explosion that all baggage be screened, the airlines had successfully lobbied Congress not to appropriate the funds to allow that to happen. Some airports, such as San Francisco’s, had seemed to want the machines, and United Airlines also seemed receptive. But as a general matter, Magistri and his little company had found themselves squaring off against all the other airlines, each with a powerful lobbying office in Washington. It was a lopsided fight. “Sergio is an optimist, like all entrepreneurs,” recalls his lone lobbyist, McCann. “So when the Gore commission made its report, he congratulated me and told me that we’d won. And I had to tell him that we were nowhere near winning.”

Now, by declaring that they no longer would be in the middle between the government and the security process, the airlines would not be in as good a position to block Magistri’s machines. Sure, they would keep lobbying quietly, but even McCann now agreed that the dynamic had been changed by their washing their hands of anything having to do with security. This could, indeed, be Magistri’s moment.

 

On Saturday Brian Lyons still wasn’t thinking much beyond clearing the next few yards of rubble. Somehow, he just stayed there at Ground Zero, not even reconsidering it day by day. There was just so much to do. He had only that morning remembered that it had been a day since he had checked in with his sister-in-law, Elaine, to tell her that there was still no sign of her husband. And other than a few hours’ sleep in the Red Cross tent, the only time Brian Lyons had stopped working in the last two days had been on Friday afternoon, when the Secret Service had cleared a path so that President Bush, with Schumer, among others, in tow, could visit Ground Zero. Lyons was about twenty feet away when the President had grabbed a bullhorn and ignited the crowd of 2,000 recovery workers, as well as the country watching on television, with his proclamation to the workers that “I can hear you. The rest of the world hears you, and the people who knocked these buildings down will hear all of us soon.”

But already there were fault lines in the unity at Ground Zero. The firemen were still looking for their missing brothers, while the construction crews were trying to clear away the wreckage. Who was in charge? And what was the priority, given the slim chance that anyone could possibly still be alive? Lyons, the construction supervisor with a missing fireman brother, felt in the middle, though because he obviously cared most about finding his brother, he had by now begun to see himself as the firemen’s ambassador to the construction crews. He could speak both languages. He could help head off the fights if someone tried to move the machinery around too quickly to suit the firemen. Or at least he was determined to try, for he feared that ultimately the tensions would get the firemen kicked out of the site altogether once it became clear they would not find anyone alive.

 

Bernadine Healy thought that things were going reasonably well. Tens of thousands of volunteers from across the country were deployed all over Manhattan. Millions were pouring in. She’d gotten faxes and telegrams from board members praising her work. Her board chairman, David McLaughlin, had told her that segregating the money raised into a designated fund subject to especially stringent auditing procedures was brilliant. A Thursday board meeting had gone well, as had a session on Friday with the President and First Lady.

Healy was oblivious to two different storms heading toward her from outside Washington.

In San Francisco, Pat Kennedy, a longtime Red Cross local leader and a member of the powerful executive committee of the national board, was livid. Her workers had called her Saturday to tell her about a memo that Healy had sent out across the country that morning announcing that all the September 11 donations were being kept in a separate fund. This meant that her chapter and all the other chapters wouldn’t get any of it for their good works. To Kennedy, this was a clear and outrageous violation of Red Cross board policy, and an affront to the board that Healy worked for.

Also, the Red Cross simply was not functioning on the ground to provide the kind of aid that the media reports of millions in donations suggested it should be providing. In Ridgewood, New Jersey, Eileen Simon went with her sister to the local Red Cross, because they had heard on television that significant help—such as funds to meet a current mortgage payment, which Simon was, indeed, concerned about—was available. Simon felt funny about taking charity; she wasn’t poor, and, besides, as of that morning her own in-laws still thought Michael Simon would be found alive. But her sister had insisted that they at least go to investigate, and with all of her family’s money still tied up in the bank accounts that only Michael had had access to, the trip might be worth it. Besides, Michael would have urged her to get whatever she was entitled to.

What Simon got was about an hour wait and then a volunteer who had the temerity to offer her coupons worth about $20 to buy food. She was also told that if she came back there might be some more coupons for the local Kmart, and that some money for a funeral might be available—if the Red Cross was allowed to call the funeral home and push for a discount. Eileen left in a huff.

Later in the afternoon, Scott Simon came to Eileen Simon’s house and asked his sister-in-law for Michael’s toothbrush and comb. He needed it to bring to the police in New York. They were, he explained, about to begin a massive effort to identify whatever body parts and other remains they were finding by matching them with DNA samples taken from the hair or saliva of those still missing, or if no such samples were available, by seeking a match from a DNA sample of a parent or sibling. With more than 5,000 people feared dead and only about 150 bodies recovered and identified, it seemed that this one tragic attack at the World Trade Center was going to produce more missing victims than the 2,585 Americans missing in action in the entire Vietnam War. New York’s police and the coroner’s office were gearing up to use the latest in DNA techniques to keep that from happening.

Scott Simon told his sister-in-law that after hearing the call for families to supply the samples, he and the rest of his brother’s family had decided that they were now prepared to assume the worst. They had held out hope, he added, because his sister had thought on Wednesday morning that she had seen Michael’s name on a Cantor Fitzgerald website listing those who had been found and were in hospitals. It now seemed clear that these early lists had been filled with mistakes. In fact, while searching the Internet from his office, he’d seen Michael’s name on another list, of people being treated at a New Jersey hospital. But that had turned out to be a different Michael Simon.

 

The Cartier family in Queens didn’t try going to the Red Cross. They weren’t thinking about money; James had been living on his own, supporting only himself. Maybe they’d have to pick up some of his bills and the cost of a funeral, but that was a cost they would have welcomed by Saturday. What they feared most was that James would be left in the dust.

After going to a memorial service near their neighborhood that did not single out James (it was too soon for that) but honored all who had died, James’s six siblings spent Saturday, as they had all week, on the telephones in their parents’ home, making calls to the various information numbers that had been flashed on the television screens. By now, two of them—Jennie Farrell, a trainer of local college instructors, who was the oldest at forty, and Michael, the youngest at twenty-four—had emerged as the leaders.

What frustrated them most was the lack of information. Some of the numbers, like the Red Cross’s, weren’t answering. Others gave conflicting answers or no answers at all. Whose DNA sample was best—their father’s, their mother’s, or some kind of trace from James’s hairbrush or his toothbrush? And where should they take it? The confusion was making them increasingly angry, exacerbated by the fact that their father sat fuming in the living room as each call ended in futility. They felt that they had to do something, not just for their brother, but for their parents. Things would get worse the next day, when their father would be told by his Catholic priest that, no, a funeral service would not be possible unless James’s body, or some part of it, was found.
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